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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS

TAN SRI LIM KIM HONG

DATO’ EU HONG CHEW

Executive Chairman

Deputy Chairman/Non-Executive Director

Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong, aged 63, was appointed to the Board
on 15 July 1999. He is currently the Group Executive
Chairman responsible for setting the policies and direction
of the entire Group. He has vast experience in business,
marketing and corporate matters as well as has a keen
sense of business acumen.

Dato’ Eu Hong Chew, aged 61, was appointed to the Board
on 15 July 1999 and is currently the Non-Executive Deputy
Chairman of the Company.

Tan Sri Lim was responsible for the successful listing of
Sumurwang Sdn Bhd’s (“Sumurwang”) manufacturing arm,
Dreamland Holdings Berhad on The Kuala Lumpur Stock
Exchange (now known as Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad)
in 1987 while he was the Chief Executive Officer of
Dreamland Holdings Berhad.

Dato’ Eu was educated at the Royal Military College and
possesses a first class honours degree in Mechanical
Engineering from the University of Glasgow, United
Kingdom. He holds a Masters in Business Administration
from the University of Bradford, United Kingdom.
Dato’ Eu has been associated with Sumurwang and its
Group of companies (“Sumurwang Group”) as its Chief
Executive with many years of experience including charting
the path for Sumurwang’s manufacturing arm, firstly under
Dreamland Holdings Berhad and its subsequent venture
into the steel business and the acquisition of I-Berhad. Prior
to joining the Sumurwang Group, he was with PA
Management Consulting as a Consultant for 10 years where
he was also appointed as the Director of Studies for the
Cranfield PA MBA Programme in Malaysia.

In 1991, he diversified Dreamland Holdings Berhad into the
steel industry and subsequently changed its name to
Kanzen Berhad (“Kanzen”). In late 1993, he divested
Sumurwang’s interest in Kanzen to reorganise Sumurwang’s
corporate structure to focus on three business areas –
property development, manufacturing and financial
services. In 1999, Tan Sri Lim acquired I-Berhad through
Sumurwang and steered the Group into property
development and ICT-solutions businesses through i-City,
an ICT-based integrated township development with MSC
Malaysia Cybercentre Status, with a gross development
value of RM7.0 billion as well as endorsed as an International
Park by the Selangor State Government and a unique
Tourism Destination by Tourism Malaysia.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS (cont’d)

PUAN SRI TEY SIEW THUAN

LIANG YEW MING

Executive Director

Independent Non-Executive Director

Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan, aged 60, was appointed to the
Board on 15 July 1999 and to the position of Chief
Executive Officer on 27 February 2008. Subsequently, Puan
Sri Tey retired as the Chief Executive Officer with effect from
10 February 2009 but remained as Executive Director of the
Company.

Mr. Liang Yew Ming, aged 48, was appointed to the Board
on 20 December 2010 and is currently the Chairman of the
Audit Committee as well as the Nominating and
Remuneration Committees of the Company.

Puan Sri Tey is currently in charge of the Group’s property
development activities as well as its financial aspects. Puan
Sri Tey also sits on the Board of several private companies.

Mr. Liang is a member of both the Certified Practising
Accountant (CPA) Australia and the Malaysian Institute of
Accountants (MIA). He is an Accountant by profession and
had previously held various management and senior
management positions in both local and multinational
corporations.

Puan Sri Tey was formerly the Executive Director of Kanzen
and whilst with Kanzen, she was responsible for the
Company’s investments into China. These investments
cover the bedding, steel and air-conditioner industries. She
was also responsible for the development of Kanzen’s steel
exports business.

Prior to his appointment, he was actively involved in the
area of taxation while he was working in Australia and has
more than 10 years of working experience in corporate
mergers and acquisitions in Malaysia.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS (cont’d)

ONG POH LING

GOH YEANG KHENG

Non-Executive Director

Independent Non-Executive Director

Madam Ong Poh Ling, aged 50, was appointed to the Board
on 15 July 1999 and to her current position on 31 March
2008. She is currently a member of the Audit, Nominating
and Remuneration Committees of the Company.

Madam Goh Yeang Kheng, aged 49, was appointed to the
Board on 1 July 2013 and is currently a member of the
Audit, Nominating and Remuneration Committees of the
Company.

Madam Ong is a graduate of University of Wolverhampton,
United Kingdom with a law degree. She joined Dreamland
Holdings Berhad in 1987 and later moved to the
Sumurwang Group as its Senior Manager, Corporate Affairs
and was responsible for setting-up and heading their
respective Corporate Communications Departments.

Madam Goh is a member of The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators (ICSA), United Kingdom. She
has more than 20 years of experience in finance and
operations in the retail industry.

Under the Group, she was responsible for staging the
RM10.0 million Sumurcity Aerospace Adventure which was
the largest aerospace exhibition undertaken by the
Sumurwang Group in 1995 and the conceptualization of
the “i” logo in 1999.

NONE OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY HAS:
- Any family relationship with other Directors or substantial
shareholders of the Company save for Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong
who is the spouse of Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan. Tan Sri Lim is
the Executive Chairman and major shareholder of the
Company.
- Any conflict of interest with the Company.
- Any conviction for offences within the past 10 years other
than traffic offences, if any.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders
We are pleased to report that our journey to re-invent ourselves from
a digital appliance company to a property development company
has reached a stage where it is reflected in the financial results.

Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong
Executive Chairman
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (cont’d)

In 2013, the property development segment was the biggest contributor to the Group’s revenue and earnings.
This change in business profile was the result of the property development segment growing at a much faster
rate than the leisure segment.
We expect this business profile to be maintained going forward. In this respect, in October 2013, we announced
the acquisition of the Kia Peng land near the Kuala Lumpur City Centre (KLCC) to develop our luxury condominium
project, the Grand i-Residence. This project is to position the Group as a high end residential developer so that it
can be a brand for future luxury end developments.
Secondly, our strategy is that although property development would be the main contributor, the Group would
also build up its recurring income businesses, both leisure and property investment, so that when i-City is fully
developed, the Group will have a strong recurring income base.
Our long term business plan is to have half of the Group’s earnings coming from recurring revenue streams i.e.
leisure and property investment so that we can withstand the downside of the property cycle.
In line with this strategy, in 2013 we introduced new rides and attractions such as the Red Carpet Interactive Wax
Museum to Leisure Park@i-City theme park. On the Property Investment side, we entered into a Joint Venture with
Central Pattana Public Company Limited of Thailand for the development of the regional shopping mall in i-City
and signed a strategic alliance with Best Western International to operate a 216 rooms hotel in i-City as well as to
enable i-City to launch the i-Suites, first hotel branded residences in Shah Alam.
The result of all these enhancement activities is that the Gross Development Value (GDV) of i-City will now exceed
RM7.0 billion compared to our estimate last year of RM5.0 billion. This additional GDV will translate into better
bottom line for the Group in the years to come.
The results achieved todate are due to the success of i-City. Our buyers have recognised the value of owning
properties in i-City. Part of the value driver has been the public infrastructure and facilities such as direct access
from the Federal Highway into i-City and the proposed Light Rail Transit (”LRT”) station in Section 7, Shah Alam.
At the same time, the Shah Alam City Council has also identified i-City as one of the growth centres within the
capital city of Selangor which is undergoing gradual transformation to be an International City.
Furthermore, i-City is today an established tourism destination and is part of the Visit Malaysia Year 2014 (”VMY
2014”) programme.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
For the financial year ended 31 December 2013 (“FY2013”), the Group recorded revenue of RM152.1 million (2012:
RM66.7 million) and profit before tax of RM53.0 million (2012: RM18.2 million). This represents an increase of 128%
and 191.2% respectively as compared to the previous financial year ended 31 December 2012 (“FY2012”).
The significant improvement in revenue and profit before tax are principally due to the growth in the property
development and property investment segments, each contributing RM30.1 million and RM9.0 million to the
Group’s pre-tax profit for FY2013.
The growth in the property development segment is driven by the higher percentage of completion of on-going
projects, together with the encouraging sales of i-Residence, i-SOVO and the new launch of i-SOHO during the
financial year. Meanwhile, the property investment segment pre-tax profits were boosted by the fair value gains on
investment properties. Leisure segment has contributed to 28.0% of the Group’s pre-tax profits with a 47.3%
growth in its revenue as compared to FY2012.
As a result of the positive growth of the Group, the Board of Directors has recommended, pending shareholders’
approval, a final single tier dividend of 6 sen per ordinary share in respect of FY2013.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (cont’d)

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
The Group operates within the following industries - property development, tourism and knowledge-based.
Factors affecting the Group’s property development activities in 2013 include the growing demand for
residential properties in Shah Alam as well as the “cooling measures” introduced by the Government for the
property sector.
The residential market in Shah Alam in recent years has seen significant activities and a re-rating of the city from
home buyers and real estate investors as it enjoyed spillover effects from surrounding strong real estate
boom in areas such as Subang Jaya, Kota Damansara and Klang. The emergence of modern new townships
within its city boundary such as Setia Alam, Alam Impian and Kota Kemuning has also created excitement for
home buyers.
(Source: DTZ Valuation Report for the SOHO Land)

The key feature of the Malaysian Property Development industry in 2013 is the various measures - such as the
change in the real property gains tax, prohibition of financial instructions to fund projects with Developers
Interests Bearing Scheme and the increase in the minimum selling prices to foreigners - introduced by the
Government to “cool” speculation. While having a minimal impact in 2013, the property market might need
some time to digest and recover from the various measures that came into effect in January 2014.
The Group’s Leisure business benefited from the growth of the tourism industry which continues to be an
important engine of growth for the country. The number of tourist arrivals to Malaysia increased from
24.71 million in 2011 to 25.03 million in 2012. The growth has continued in 2013 as the tourist arrivals from
January to September for 2013 were 3.3 % higher compared to that for the same period in 2012. In terms of
source of visitors, those from Singapore accounted for half of the tourists in the first nine months of 2013. In
terms of promoting the country by Tourism Malaysia, the campaigns started in 2013 for VMY 2014 as this is
envisaged to be the biggest and grandest ever tourism celebration for the country and it is hoped that VMY
2014 will contribute to the Government’s target to receive 36 million tourist arrivals by 2020.
(Source: Tourism Malaysia website)
According to the Multimedia Development Corporation, MSC Malaysia Cybercities and Cybercentres are not
about property play, and similarly they are not just a collection of office buildings with high-end infrastructure.
Beyond housing MSC Malaysia status companies, these Cybercities/Cybercentres play an important role in
providing a conducive business environment and ecosystem that attracts ICT investors and nurturing local ICT
companies to become global players. Although there were 23 MSC Malaysia Cybercities/Cybercentre in the
Klang Valley at the end of 2013 compared to 19 at the end of 2012, i-City continue to be the only MSC
Malaysia Cybercentre in Shah Alam.
(Source: MDeC and MSC website)

CORPORATE DEVELOPMENTS
In December 2013, we announced a corporate exercise involving a share split, a bonus issue, a rights issue with
detachable warrants and the issuance of Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks (“RCULS”) and
Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock (“ICULS”).
As part of our plan to attract and retain high caliber staffs, the company will also introduce a Long Term Incentive
Plan for the key staffs. This would be in the form of a share grant scheme.
The rights issue with detachable warrants will raise approximately RM200.0 million. About 1/3 of this is
earmarked for I-Berhad’s capital contribution for the shopping mall joint venture while the balance is for the
Group’s other property development activities.
At the same time, instead of paying the landowner RM370.3 million for the land to undertake the next phase of
i-City’s development, I-Berhad will issue the same amount of RCULS and ICULS (collectively known as
“convertible securities”) as full settlement to the landowner.
I-BERHAD
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (cont’d)

i-City is currently a joint venture between I-Berhad and the landowner whereby the landowner only gets the land
value as its share of the profits while the balance accrues to I-Berhad. For the next phase of i-City involving the
SOHO and Central Tower development, the Group is proposing an alternative approach where instead of paying
the landowner cash, the Group would issue convertible securities. Accordingly, the Group through two wholly
owned subsidiaries namely I-City Properties Sdn Bhd and City Centrepoint Sdn Bhd has entered into sale and
purchase agreements to acquire the land parcels for the SOHO and Central Tower development respectively in
December 2013.
Together with the RM132.0 million RCULS announced in October 2013 for the Kia Peng land acquisition, the
proceeds resulting from the corporate exercise will strengthen the Group’s balance sheet as it pursue its property
development programme.
At the same time, to enable the minority shareholders of I-Berhad to minimise dilution and to benefit from the
future growth of the Group, the landowner is also offering half of its ICULS for sale at the same price to the other
shareholders.
As property development activities in Malaysia are mostly self-funding with proceeds generated from sales
collections, the corporate exercise focus is for the Group to fund its property investment plans.
The acquisition of the two parcels of land in i-City via the issuance of RCULS and ICULS is a better alternative to
the joint venture that I-Berhad is having with the landowner in the development of i-City as there is no cash
outflow for the acquisition of land. This convertible securities scheme for these two pieces of i-City land as well as
for the Kia Peng land will ensure that the RM502.3 million for the land is retained by I-Berhad.
Upon the completion of the Company’s proposed corporate exercise, the Company is envisaged to be a billion
ringgit property Group in terms of market capitalisation and will thus be a major player in property development
in the years to come.

PROPOSED UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS FROM THE CORPORATE EXERCISE

5%
13%
SOHO & Central Tower Acquisition
Kia Peng Land Acquisition
Capital Contribution for Shopping Mall
Property Development activities
Others

10%
53%

19%
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (cont’d)

FUTURE OUTLOOK
Although the property development and leisure segments are expected to achieve double digits growth in
2014, because of its larger ringgit revenue base, the property development segment is expected to contribute
approximately 3/4 of the Group’s revenue in 2014.
The Property Development segment kicks off the year with RM400.0 million of unbilled sales. In 2014, the Group
expects to launch approximately RM1.6 billion GDV of developments. RM820.0 million of these would be from
the Grand i-Residence project in the KLCC area while the balance would be from the next phase of i-Suites
development.
The “cooling measures” introduced by the Government are not expected to have any significant impact on
these launches. As at current date, the Group has already received bookings for all the units in the Grand
i-Residences. At the same time, the launch of the next phase of i-Suites is targeted towards the end of the year
when the market has fully digested the impact of the “cooling measures”.
In line with this positioning for the next phase of i-City, we are developing The Jewel@i-City, an iconic mixed
residential, hospitality and office project that will enhance I-Berhad’s track record as an Ultrapolis developer.
As for the leisure segment, we expect 2014 to be a game changer with the VMY 2014. Historically the majority
of visitors to Leisure Park@i-City theme park are Malaysians, but with the Tourism Malaysia VMY 2014 promotional programmes and activities, we expect more foreign tourists. We also plan to introduce a number of new
rides and attractions in 2014 and envisage that these will help to increase the expenditure per visitor. The
increased traffic volume and the increase expenditure per visitor will enable 2014 to be another record year for
the leisure segment.
Although the contribution from the property investment segment will not be significant in 2014, there are three
development projects that will lay the foundation for future growth - the commencement of the shopping mall
construction, the construction of the 6,500 car parks under the SOHO project and the opening of the 3-star i-City
hotel in 2014.
The Group is still on a growth trajectory and we expect the annual turnover to reach a steady level of
RM500.0 million to RM600.0 million within the next three years.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I wish to extend my sincere thanks to our customers, business associates and our
shareholders for their support and confidence. My utmost appreciation also goes to the entire management
team and all employees of the Group for their contribution and dedication.
I would like to take this opportunity to welcome Madam Goh Yeang Kheng who joined the Board in July 2013.
Finally, my appreciation and thanks also go to my fellow Board members for their untiring support and
contribution in bringing the Group to its next level of growth.

TAN SRI LIM KIM HONG
Executive Chairman
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The main drivers of the Group’s profitability are the property development and leisure operations which contributed 62.4%
and 30.8% respectively to the Group’s revenue in the financial year ended 31 December 2013.
The Group activities are currently centred on i-City, a 72-acre freehold Ultrapolis located along the Federal Highway with direct
flyover access and i-City LRT Station by 2020. i-City is an international business hub by day and lifestyle haven by night, with
commercial, residential, and leisure components.
Its property development component comprises corporate towers, cyber office suites, serviced apartments, hotels, data
centres, and a 1.5 million sq ft shopping mall.
i-City is a MSC Malaysia Cybercentre certified development, a world reference site for Cisco’s Smart+Connected Community
(CSCC) platform, a Ministry of Tourism and Culture-endorsed Tourism Destination, and an International Park as declared by the
Selangor State Government.
It has an approved gross floor area of approximately 13 million sq ft. As at the end of 2013, only about 0.5 million sq ft has
been completed. Under construction is another 3.5 million sq ft, leaving the balance as a strong development pipeline for the
next 10 years.

Property Development
We expect our property development business to continue to grow in the coming years both in terms of actual revenue as well
as in terms of percentage contribution to the Group‘s revenue. In 2012, revenue from the property development segment was
only about RM25.0 million. This grew almost four-fold in 2013 with further leap anticipated for 2014.
In 2012, the main revenue driver for I-Berhad was its leisure division which contributed 48% of Group revenue while the
property development division accounted for only 37%. In 2013, however, the property development division contributed
about two-thirds of the revenue while the leisure segment only accounted for about one-third. This change in business profile
is the result of the property development segment growing at a much faster rate than the leisure segment.
The property development revenue and earnings in 2013 were contributed by 3 projects - i-Residence and i-SOVO (both
launched in 2012) and i-SOHO (launched in Q1 2013). The contribution for i-Suites that was launched in December 2013 would
only be from 2014 onwards.
As at the end of 2013, we have achieved good uptake with 96% sales for i-SOVO, 95% sales for i-Residence and 52% sales for
i-SOHO. In terms of construction work, we have completed 42% of i-SOVO, 37% of i-Residence and 10% of i-SOHO.
i-SOHO comes in two distinctive features – standard and duplex units that range from 464 sq ft to 805 sq ft and priced from
RM283,600 onwards. Upon the project’s completion in mid-2016, two 43-storey i-SOHO towers adjoining a 10-storey low-rise
block will fill Shah Alam’s majestic skyline.
i-City has also forged a strategic alliance with premier hospitality brand Best Western International to partake in the
development of the 216-room Best Western i-City hotel (GDV: RM50.0 million) and 826 units of i-Suite@i-City serviced
residences (due for completion in 2017) which are poised to be the first hotel-branded residential development in Shah Alam.
Our property development marketing plans for 2014 is the launch of Grand i-Residence in the Kuala Lumpur City Centre
(”KLCC”) area and the next phase of i-Suites. The Grand i-Residence project boasts a GDV of RM820.0 million and is targeted to
be launched in the 2nd quarter of 2014 while the next phase of i-Suite@i-City with RM775.0 million GDV is to be launched
towards the end of 2014.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (cont’d)

Grand i-Residence is made up of 442 fully-furnished luxurious residential units with an average selling price of RM 2,200 per sq
ft. Of its 442 units, 315 are serviced apartments while the remaining 127 units consist of small office home offices (SOHO). The
serviced apartments will range from 660 sq ft to 1,140 sq ft while the SOHO units will range from 660 sq ft to 940 sq ft. Slated
for completion by mid-2019, the Grand i-Residence project is inspired by i-City’s successful roll-out of “smaller size units”
projects in the likes of i-Residence, i-SOVO, i-SOHO which have enjoyed amazing take up rates.
To ensure that we have a steady pipeline of projects in the coming years, we are now working on the design of the Central
Tower development, a 7.45 acre of mixed development on a plot of land adjacent to the shopping mall in i-City. To be
launched in 2015, this project comprises residential towers, an office tower and a 4-star hotel.
On the drawing board is also The Jewel@i-City iconic project, a 4 million sq ft integrated residential, office and hotel in i-City
that would be linked to the Central Tower development.

Leisure

City of Digital Lights with the LED lightscapes

WaterWorld@i-City

Leisure Park@i-City theme park boasts 4 notable precincts – City of Digital Lights (with over 1.0 million LED lightscapes and
outdoor park rides); Snowalk (a 50,000 sq ft Arctic environment below 5 degrees Celsius); WaterWorld (featuring the 1st
tornado ride in Southeast Asia) and FunWorld (for family-oriented activities and recreation) with Malaysia’s 1st Trick Art
Museum; Red Carpet@i-City, Malaysia’s first All-Stars interactive wax museum, Space Mission and the thrilling House of Horror
as the main feature.
i-City has until 31 December 2013 invested RM54.0 million in the various rides and attractions and plan to invest another
RM30.0 million over the next few years. The new rides and attractions that opened in 2013 included the Red Carpet and the
House of Horror.
Leisure Park@i-City theme park today occupies a 25 acres site in i-City. Of these, about half is on undeveloped land while the
rest are on developed properties i.e. either within the building or on accessory parcels owned by i-City. As we complete other
phases of development such as the i-SOHO, we will relocate some of the rides on the undeveloped land to the completed
accessory parcels. Not only will this free up the land for development but also ensure minimal disruption to our leisure
revenue stream. The current business model where we charge fees per ride was structured to enable this relocation without
affecting the revenue stream. We expect to have this re-location fully completed in 4 to 5 years time.
The theme park has achieved double digits growth in revenue yearly since it first opened to the public in December 2009. Part
of this growth has been due to the increase in the number of visitors while the other part is contributed by the increase in the
ringgit spending per visitor.
The number of visitors to Leisure Park@i-City theme park is driven by two categories of activities - events and functions and
direct marketing efforts by the Group. Taken together, they account for an average of 90,000 visitors a week.
I-BERHAD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (cont’d)

The events and functions held in 2013 included amongst others, Miss Tourism International, Malaysia Woman Marathon,
Tourism Selangor Hari Raya Open House and the Polis Diraja Malaysia Cycling with Communities Night. In 2013, we also
started to market the Leisure Park@i-City theme park as sites for corporate functions as well as introduced an online sales
programme.
Leisure Park@i-City theme park received more visitors during weekends, school holidays and festive seasons. In 2013, the
highest patronage was in Christmas where the theme park generated approximately RM0.5 million revenue for that day. The
Group aims to double its revenue over the next 3 to 5 years by increasing the patronage of its attractions during the
non-school holidays.
The other source of growth for Leisure Park@i-City theme part is in-bound tourists. In 2013, international tourists account for
less than 10% of the number of visitors but with VMY 2014, we expect the numbers will go up as the new attractions will be an
appeal to international tourists. Furthermore, Tourism Malaysia has started promoting i-City as one of the destinations in
Selangor for VMY 2014.
In parallel with driving traffic to i-City we also plan to increase the ringgit spending per visitor by introducing more attractions
so that the there is more reason to spend a longer period in i-City. In 2012, we averaged about less than one ticket sales per
visitor whereas for 2014, the budget was to achieve 3 tickets sales per visitor. The main reason for this growth is that there are
today more attractions than in 2012.
Leisure Park@i-City theme park has been generating profits since its first year of operations. As at December 2013, we would
have invested RM54.0 million in the various rides and attractions. Our cumulative profits by end December 2013 would be
about RM40.8 million. It can thus be concluded that overall the rides and attractions have less than 2 years payback time.

Property Investment
This division is responsible for the leasing and management of the 0.5 million sq ft of completed properties in i-City. About
half of these properties belong to the Al Rajhi Banking & Investment Corporation (Malaysia) Bhd (”Al Rajhi”) where i-City has
taken a master lease.
Although the Al Rajhi master lease had expired in November 2013, we have extended it for another 2 years. This extension will
enable us to manage the tenant mix in our MSC Malaysia Cybercentre. At the same time, as these units form the link between
the City of Digital Lights and the rest of Leisure Park@i-City theme park attractions, we intend to convert a number of the
ground floor units to support our theme park operations.
While the revenue contribution from the property investment segment was only about 6% in 2013, we have laid a strong
foundation for the future with our shopping mall, the Best Western i-City hotel and the car parks development.
Shopping mall
In July 2013, I-Berhad signed a joint venture agreement with CPN Global Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Central Pattana Public Company Limited of Thailand (”CPN”), to jointly develop the CentralPlaza@i-City regional retail mall.
CPN is Thailand’s largest retail developer with global credential.
Upon its completion in 2017, this RM580.0 million CentralPlaza@i-City will stand out as the biggest and most modern shopping
mall project in the capital city of Selangor.
Currently in the design stage, the project will be developed on a freehold land plot of 11.12 acres with gross floor area (GFA) of
around 1.5 million sq ft and net leasable area (NLA) of around 1 million sq ft.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSIONS AND ANALYSIS (cont’d)

Best Western International
In October 2013, we entered into a strategic alliance with premier hospitality brand Best Western International Inc.
Best Western International Inc is “THE WORLD’S LARGEST HOTEL CHAIN”, with 4,000 independently owned and operated
hotels. Based in Phoenix, Arizona, Best Western offers more than 308,692 quality guest rooms located in 80 countries and
territories throughout the world.
We deem the Best Western i-City hotel as the start of our third building block in the development of i-City as a tourism
destination. The three tourism building blocks components are our theme park, the CentralPlaza@i-City super regional retail
mall and the 3 hotels planned for i-City.
Currently under construction, this 216-room boutique Best Western i-City hotel is slated for opening in the third quarter of
2014. This hotel will enhance the number of visitors to i-City’s leisure park and attractions given visitors can now opt to stay
within the vicinity of Leisure Park@i-City theme park.

Best Western Hotel@i-City opening Q3, 2014

Car parks
An integral part of i-Suite@i-City project is the development of 6,500 bays of car parks that the Group will keep as long term
investment.
As of today, i-City has about 1,500 car parks. They are valued at RM30,000 per bay as at 31 December 2013 due to the high
revenue they could generate. As a whole, the car park plan is a significant value enhancement component of i-City as
generally the car park value is not factored in as part of the Gross Development Value (GDV).
The revenue derived from entrance of vehicles in i-City is currently about RM275 per bay per month. A significant portion of
this is driven by the visitors to Leisure Park@i-City theme park. We expect this revenue will build up as we drive traffic to the
theme park. At the same time, an analysis of the i-SOHO buyers profile suggests that the i-SOHO in i-City will be more of an
office unit with overnight living rather than a residential unit used as an office. This means that the i-SOHO development can
also be a significant vehicle traffic contributor. But more importantly, as i-City is a night tourism spot, the office traffic will help
to improve the utilisation of each bay. And undoubtedly we expect a leap in traffic volume when the shopping mall opens.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FIVE-YEAR GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Revenue
(RM'000)

Profit Attributable to Shareholders
(RM'000)
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Financial Year Ended 31 December
Revenue

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

2009
RM’000

2010
RM’000

2011
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

5,758

9,938

27,229

66,656

152,148

Profit Before Tax (”PBT”)

927

3,830

1,812

18,237

52,983

Profit After Tax

909

3,464

1,060

16,659

43,969

Profit Attributable to Shareholders

909

2,515

1,338

16,818

43,968

Total Assets

209,948

218,275

213,306

262,319

324,985

Shareholders' Equity

160,235

161,181

161,523

177,232

216,761

(362)

8,659

5,911

24,892

65,663

0.80

2.21

1.17

14.75

38.57

EBITDA
Earnings Per Share (Sen)*
Net Assets Per Share (Sen)*

141

141

142

155

190

Return on Equity (%)

0.57

1.56

0.83

9.49

20.28

Note:* The preceding years' earnings per share and net assets per share have been restated to reflect the Share Dividend distributed in December 2012.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (cont’d)
SEGMENTAL REVENUE
FY2013 (RM152.1 Million)

FY2012 (RM66.7 Million)
1.8%

0.8%

30.8%
47.8%
2013

2012

36.9%
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors of the Company recognises the importance of adopting high standards of corporate governance as a
fundamental part of its responsibility, in protecting and enhancing shareholders’ value and financial performance of the Group.
The Board is pleased to report to the shareholders on the manner in which the Group has applied the principles, and the extent of
compliance with the best practices in corporate governance as prescribed in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2012
throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

A.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(i)

Role and Responsibilities of the Board

(ii)

(a)

An effective Board leads and controls the Group whereby all Directors participate fully in decision making
process on keys issues faced by the Group. The Executive Directors are responsible for implementing the
policies and decisions of the Board, overseeing the operations as well as coordinating the development and
implementation of business and corporate strategies while the Independent Non-Executive Directors play a
key role in providing unbiased and independent views, advice and contributing their knowledge and
experience towards the formulation of policies and in the decision making process.

(b)

The Board composition is listed in the Corporate Information section and the profiles of the members of the
Board are provided in the Profile of Directors section of this Annual Report. The Board’s composition
represents a mix of knowledge, skills and expertise from varied business backgrounds which are vital to the
effective stewardship of the Group. At the current stage of growth, the Group still requires the executive
inputs of the Chairman who is instrumental in driving the Group’s Leisure segment.

(c)

The roles of the Executive Chairman and the most senior Executive Director are clearly separated. The
Executive Chairman heads the Board and leads the discussion at Board level. He is also responsible for
implementing the Group’s policies, business plans and executive decision making. The Executive Chairman is
assisted by the Executive Director as well as the Senior Management of the Company.

(d)

The Board has adopted the Board Charter as well as the Code of Ethics and Conduct on 13 May 2013 which
are available for reference in the Group’s website at www.i-city.my. The Board Charter sets out the role,
functions, composition, operation and processes of the Board and is to ensure that all Board members acting
on behalf of the Company are aware of their duties and responsibilities as Board members, whilst the Code of
Ethics and Conduct is formulated to enhance the standard of corporate governance and corporate behavior
with the intention of establishing a standard of ethical behavior for Directors based on trustworthiness and
values that can be accepted or upheld by any one person and to uphold the spirit of social responsibility in
line with the legislation, regulations and guidelines for administrating the Company.

Board Balance
During the year, the Board had 6 members, comprising 2 Executive Directors and 4 Non-Executive Directors out of which
2 are Independent Directors, thus fulfilling the one-third (1/3) independence requirement. At the end of the financial
year, the Board undertook an assessment of its Independent Directors. None of its Independent Directors has exceeded
a tenure of nine years. The Board will increase the size of its members on a gradual basis based on the Group’s business
needs from time to time.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)

(iii)

Board Committees
The Board is assisted by several Board Committees which operate within clearly defined terms of reference namely:
Audit Committee
Remuneration Committee
Nominating Committee

(iv)

Board Meetings and Supply of Information to the Board
The Board met a total of 5 times during the year ended 31 December 2013. Details of attendance of each individual
Director in respect of the meetings held is disclosed under the “Statement accompanying notice of annual general
meeting” in this Annual Report. The Board will hold additional meetings as and when necessary to consider business
issues that require the urgent decision of the Board.
Board meetings are conducted with a structured pre-set Agenda. For all major financial, operational and corporate
matters which require the Board’s decision, all Directors are provided with sufficient and timely reports and supporting
documents which are circulated in advance of each meeting to ensure sufficient time is given to understand the key
issues and contents. The Executive Chairman chairs and leads the Board meetings whilst the Senior Management are
invited to present and provides explanation on the Board reports.
Directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary
organises and attends all Board Meetings thus ensuring that Board meeting procedures are followed and that applicable
rules and regulations are complied with. All matters arising therefrom and conclusions of the Board Meetings are
recorded in the minutes of Meetings by the Company Secretary which are thereafter confirmed and signed as correct
records of the proceedings thereat by the Chairman.
External independent professional advisers are also made available to render their independent views and advice to the
Board, whenever deemed necessary and in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

(v)

Appointment of Board Members
The Nominating Committee which was set-up on 13 May 2002 is entrusted with the task of reviewing and
recommending the appropriate mix of expertise and experience and the appropriate balance of Executive and
Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Non-Executives).

The Committee is responsible for:(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

Recommending to the Board, candidates for Directorships to be filled by the shareholders or the Board;
Considering candidates for Directorships proposed by the Chief Executive Officer and/or by any other senior
executive or any Director or shareholder;
Recommending to the Board, Directors to seat on Board Committees;
Assessing the effectiveness of the Board and Board Committees (including size and composition) and
contributions of each individual Director; and
Reviewing and recommending to the Board the required mix of skills and experience and other qualities,
including core competencies which Non-Executive Directors should bring to the Board.

During the financial year, no Nominating Committee meeting was held as the appointment of Madam Goh Yeang Kheng
as Independent Non-Executive Director was decided by the Board as a whole.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)

(vi)

Directors’ Training
New Directors were given a thorough briefing by the Management on the Company’s Business Plan and operations
upon their appointment to the Board. The Directors will be regularly updated on the latest regulatory requirements as
well as accounting standards to enable them to keep abreast with new statutory and regulatory requirements. During
the year, five of the Board members namely, Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong, Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan, Y. Bhg. Dato’
Eu Hong Chew, Madam Ong Poh Ling and Madam Goh Yeang Kheng attended a training programme entitled “Family
Business Dilemma and Highlights of Budget 2014” whilst Mr. Liang Yew Ming attended a workshop entitled “Getting
Ready for GST”. In addition, the Director appointed during the year, Madam Goh Yeang Kheng attended the Mandatory
Accreditation Programme as required under the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities.

(vii)

Re-election of Directors
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Directors who are appointed by the Board are subject to
re-election by the shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting held following their appointments. The Articles also
provides that one-third (1/3) of the Directors shall retire from office at each Annual General Meeting provided always
that all the Directors including the Chairman shall retire from office at least once every three years but shall be eligible
for re-election.

B.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

(i)

The level and make-up of Remuneration
The primary objective of the Remuneration Committee is to act as a Committee of the full Board to assist in assessing the
remuneration of the Executive Directors to reflect the responsibility and commitment of Board membership so that the
Company attracts and retains the Directors needed to run the Group successfully.
The component parts of their remuneration are structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance
in the case of Executive Directors. In the case of Non-Executive Directors, the level of remuneration reflects the
experience and level of responsibilities undertaken by the individual Non-Executive Director concerned.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)

(ii)

Procedure
The Remuneration Committee formed on 23 July 2001 is responsible for:(a)
(b)
(c)

(d)

Determining and developing the remuneration policy for the Executive Directors;
Recommending to the Board, the remuneration of the Executive Directors in all its forms, drawing from
outside advice where necessary;
Assisting the Board in ensuring that the remuneration of the Director reflects the responsibility and
commitment of the Directors concerned; determining the policy for and scope of service agreements for the
Executive Directors, termination payments and compensation commitments; and
Recommending to the Board, the appointment of the services of such advisers or consultants as it deems
necessary to fulfill its responsibilities.

During the financial year, the Committee did not have any meeting as the remuneration packages of the Directors were
decided by the Board as a whole. Directors do not participate in decisions on their own remuneration packages.

(iii)

Disclosure
The details of the aggregate remuneration of Directors of the Company on Group basis for the financial year ended
31 December 2013 are as follows:-

Directors’
Remuneration

Executive
RM

Non-Executive
RM

Total
RM

603,906

-

603,906

70,000

592,500

662,500

-

24,000

24,000

Salaries and other
emoluments
Fees
Allowances

The number of Directors whose remuneration falls within the following successive bands of RM50,000 is as follows:-

Number of Directors

Directors’ Remuneration

Total

Executive

Non-Executive

RM50,001 - RM100,000

-

2

2

RM101,000 - RM150,000

-

-

-

RM151,000 - RM200,000

-

-

-

RM201,000 - RM250,000

-

1

1

RM251,000 - RM300,000

-

1

1

RM301,000 - RM350,000

2

-

2
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)

C.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

(i)

Company’s Annual Publication
The Company recognises the importance of communication with its shareholders through its distribution of the Annual
Report.

(ii)

Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Announcements
The various announcements on the corporate developments made during the year coupled with the Group’s timely
release of financial results on a quarterly basis, as well as other periodic announcements, provide shareholders with an
overview of the Group’s performance and operations.

(iii)

Website of the Company
The Company has also established its website (www.i-city.my) in which shareholders can access for updated
information on the Group.

(iv)

The General Meetings
The Annual General Meeting remains the pivotal means of direct interaction between the Board of Directors and
shareholders of the Company.
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s general meetings and to participate in its proceedings through
the ‘questions and answers’ session where shareholders are accorded both the opportunity and the time to raise
questions on the agenda items of the general meetings. The Directors and Senior Management present are available to
provide explanations to all shareholders’ queries. Shareholders who are unable to attend are allowed to appoint proxies
to attend and vote on their behalf. The Board would be implementing poll voting at general meetings for all related
party transactions.
Shareholders’ proposals and comments are reviewed and considered for implementation wherever possible.
Shareholders and the public can convey their concerns and queries to the Company’s Senior Independent Director,
Mr. Liang Yew Ming.

(v)

Investor Relations
In addition to the dialogue with invaluable shareholders of the Company, the Board values dialogue with investors.
The Company aims to communicate fully with fund managers, institutional investors and analysts upon request. The
Company’s Corporate Affairs Department has been designated for investors’ relations and attending to communication
and meeting with investors and analysts. Information is also disseminated in strict adherence to the disclosure
requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. During the financial year, the Company held several briefings to
analysts and fund managers.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)

D.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(i)

Financial Reporting and Disclosure
The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and meaningful assessment of the Company and Group’s financial
performance and prospects via the Company’s Annual Report and quarterly announcements of results and the press
releases.

(ii)

Internal Control
Information on the Group’s internal control is set out in the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control
contained in this Annual Report.

(iii)

Relationship with External Auditors
The Board has established a formal and transparent relationship with the external Auditors. The external Auditors attend
the Audit Committee meetings where the Group’s annual financial statements are considered as well as meetings to
review and discuss the Group’s accounting policies, audit findings and improvements to be made on existing internal
control measures and accounting policies and procedures.

(iv)

Statement of Directors’ Responsibility for Preparing the Annual Financial Statements for the
Financial Year Ended 31 December 2013
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the financial statements of the Group are drawn up in accordance with
applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 so as to give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2013 and of the results and
cash flows of the Group and the Company for the financial year ended on that date.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have:adopted appropriate accounting policies and have applied them consistently;
made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
ensured adherence to all applicable approved accounting standards; and
used the going concern basis for the preparation of the financial statements.

The Directors are also responsible for ensuring that the Company and Group maintain accounting records that disclose
with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Company and Group, and which enables them to ensure that the
financial statements comply with the Companies Act.
Furthermore, the Directors have the general responsibility of taking such steps necessary to safeguard the assets of the
Company and Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

This statement is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors dated 9 May 2014.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

During the financial year, the members of the Audit Committee of the Board consisted of:Chairman:

Mr. Liang Yew Ming
Independent Non-Executive Director

Members:

Madam Ong Poh Ling
Non-Executive Director
Madam Goh Yeang Kheng
Independent Non-Executive Director

Composition and Terms of Reference
(a)

The Committee shall be appointed by the Board of Directors from amongst the Directors of the Company and shall
comprise not less than three members, all of whom shall be non-Executive Directors. The majority of the Committee
members shall be Independent Directors.

(b)

At least one of the member of the Committee:(i)

must be a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants; or

(ii)

if he is not a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, he must have at least three (3) years’
working experience and
•
•

(iii)

he must have passed the examinations specified in Part 1 of the First Schedule of the Accountants
Act 1967; or
he must be a member of one of the Associations of Accountants specified in Part II of the First
Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967; or

fulfils such other requirements as prescribed or approved by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

(c)

The members of the Committee shall elect a Chairman from among their number who shall be an Independent
Director.

(d)

The Board of Directors must review the term of office and performance of the Committee and each of its members at
least once every three years.

Composition Compliance
All members of Audit Committee are Non-Executive Directors, with majority of them being independent. No alternate Director
has been appointed as a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Liang Yew Ming who is a member of MIA and an Independent
Non-Executive Director chairs the Audit Committee.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT (cont’d)

Duties and Responsibilities
a.

To review the following and report the same to the Board of Directors of the Company:(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)

(vii)
(viii)

(ix)

with the external Auditor, the audit plan;
with the external Auditor, his evaluation of the system of internal controls;
with the external Auditor, his audit report;
the assistance given by the employees of the Company to the external Auditor;
the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the internal audit functions and that
it has the necessary authority to carry out its work;
the internal audit programme, processes, the results of the internal audit programme, processes or
investigation undertaken and whether or not appropriate action is taken on the recommendations of the
internal audit function;
any appraisal or assessment of the performance of members of the internal audit function;
the quarterly results and year end financial statements, prior to the approval by the Board of Directors,
focusing particularly on:changes in accounting policies and practices;
significant adjustments arising from the audit;
significant and unusual events;
the going concern assumption; and
compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements;
any related party transaction and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the Company or Group
including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of management integrity.

b.

To discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim and final audits, and any matter the Auditor may wish
to discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);

c.

To consider the major findings of internal investigations and management’s response;

d.

To recommend and consider the nomination and appointment of a person or persons as external Auditors, the audit
fees and any question of resignation or dismissal; and

e.

To consider any other functions or duties as maybe agreed to by the Committee and the Board.

Meeting Procedures
a.

Quorum
A quorum shall be two members, both being Independent Directors.

b.

Secretary
The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary of the Committee.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT (cont’d)

c.

Meetings
The General Manager of Finance and representatives of the external auditors (if required) shall normally attend
meetings. The senior management team may attend meetings upon the invitation of the Audit Committee to
provide the Committee with detailed explanations and clarification on matters that have been tabled.
Meetings shall be held not less than four times in a financial year. Additional meetings may be called at the discretion
of the Chairman of the Committee. The external Auditors may request a meeting if they consider that one is
necessary. The minutes of the Audit Committee meetings and the Internal Audit Reports are formally tabled to the
Board for noting and also to provide the opportunity to other Non-Audit Committee members to seek clarification,
raise queries or provide their views on the matters discussed by the said Committee, where necessary. The Chairman
of the Audit Committee would report to the Directors at Board meetings, the Committee’s recommendations and
actions taken on salient issues which have been raised at the Audit Committee Meetings.

Attendance at Meetings
During the financial year ended 31 December 2013, the Audit Committee held a total of five meetings and details of
attendance of each member at the said Committee meetings are as follows:-

Members of Audit Committee

Number of Meetings Attended

Mr. Liang Yew Ming

5/5

Madam Ong Poh Ling

5/5

Madam Goh Yeang Kheng

3/3

(appointed on 1 July 2013)

Summary of Activities During the Year
Discussed the external Auditors’ audit review memorandum for the financial year ended 31 December 2012.
Discussed the external Auditors’ management letter for the Group in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2012.
Discussed and recommended for Board approval, the valuation report on the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December
2012.
Reviewed the external Auditors’ audit planning memorandum for the financial year ended 31 December 2013.
Discussed the external Auditors’ report on the Company’s Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control.
Reviewed and recommended for Board approval, the proposed Kia Peng Land, SOHO Land and Tower Land Acquisitions.
Reviewed and recommended for Board approval, the proposed Mall Land Acquisition and Joint Venture with Central Pattana of
Thailand.
Reviewed and recommended for Board approval, the Quarterly Reports prepared by management for submission to the relevant
authorities.
Discussed the Internal Audit report on the review of the Company’s Standard Operating Procedures.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT (cont’d)

Reviewed and recommended for Board approval the following Proposals:(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)

Proposed Share Split;
Proposed Bonus Issue;
Proposed Renounceable Rights Issue with free detachable Warrants;
Proposed Restricted Offer for Sale of Convertible Securities;
Proposed Private Placement;
Proposed Increase in Authorised Share Capital;
Proposed Amendments to Memorandum and Articles of Association; and
Proposed Establishment of Long Term Incentive Plan (collectively “Proposals”)

Reviewed and recommended for Board approval, the appointments of CIMB Investment Bank Berhad as Adviser to the Proposals and
the proposed acquisition of Kia Peng Land, SOHO Land and Tower Land ("proposed acquisitions") and RHB Investment Bank Berhad
as Independent Adviser to the Related Party Transactions relating to the proposed acquisitions.
Discussed with the external Auditors, the problems and reservations arising from the audit and any other matters the external
Auditors may wish to discuss in the absence of management.

Internal Audit Function
The Group’s internal audit function is carried out by the Internal Audit Department which reports directly to the Audit
Committee on its activities and audit plans throughout the entire year. During the financial year, the Internal Audit
Department reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s Standard Operating Procedures in respect of both
the Leisure and Car Park Operations. Its audit findings together with the recommendation for improvement were tabled to the
Audit Committee for deliberation.
The cost for the internal audit function incurred in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2013 amounted to
RM18,587.02.

I-BERHAD
Annual Report 2013

28

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

INTRODUCTION
Pursuant to paragraph 15.26(b) of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”), the Board
of Directors is pleased to present its Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control of I-Berhad Group for the financial
year ended 31 December 2013.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY
The Board recognise the importance of the Group’s sound internal controls as well as risk management practices, and affirms
its overall responsibility of reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group. The Board has via the Audit Committee obtained the necessary assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems through ongoing and independent reviews carried out by the internal
audit function.
Due to inherent limitations in any system of internal control, such systems can only manage rather than eliminate all possible
risks resulting in Group’s inability to achieve its business objectives. Thus, the system can provide reasonable, and not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
The Board has established a risk management framework and communicated to the management on the risk appetite and
tolerance that the Group is willing to accept in pursuit of its objectives. Risk management in the Group involves an on-going
process for identifying, evaluating, managing and reviewing any changes in the significant risks faced by the business in the
Group in its achievement of objectives and strategies. Risks identified were assessed in terms of the possibility of occurrence
and the impact to the Group if the risk materialise. The Group’s key risk profile will be reviewed and updated, where necessary
by the Management.
The management of risks in the daily business operation is assigned to management team and significant risks are identified
and related mitigating responses as well as the corresponding internal controls are discussed at the audit committee and/or
board meetings.
The abovementioned practices serve as the ongoing process adopted by Management to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks faced by the Company in achieving the business objectives and strategies. The Group’s internal audit function
provides further independent assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system.
The Board is of the opinion that the risk management and internal control system of the Group is adequate and effective. The
Board endeavours to maintain a sound system of internal control and will periodically evaluate and take precautionary
measures to further improve and strengthen the control environment to ensure the achievement of the Group’s business
objectives and it has received assurance from the Executive Director on the material aspects for this purpose.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (cont’d)

SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL
The main features of the Group’s internal control system established are summarised as follows:Organisation Structure

The Group maintains a defined organisation structure with clear lines of reporting to the operating unit heads and
Board, including defined lines of accountability. Key responsibilities are properly segregated in order that no
employee has total control of a transaction.
Authorisation Procedures

The Group maintains a defined authority chart with clear authority limits and approval procedures.
Standard Operating Procedures

Documented standard operating policies and procedures are reviewed and updated, where applicable.
Periodic Management Meeting

Regular meetings held at operational and management levels to identify and resolve operational and business
matters. Deviation in targeted goals and corrective actions implemented where necessary are reported by the
Heads of Department in the meetings.
Annual Budget

Budgetary control for every operation of the Group, where actual performance is closely monitored against budget
to identify and address significant variances so that corrective actions can be taken to improve the achievement
towards the budgeted results and eventually the Group’s business objectives as a whole.
Financial Reporting Timeline

Financial and operational reports are generated timely for Management review and action.
Site Visits

Regular site visits by the senior management team members and external consultants are conducted to ensure
activities at the sites are run smoothly and comply with applicable laws, rules, regulations and directives.
Human Resource Structure

The Group’s centralised human resource function that sets out the procedures for recruitment, training and
appraisal of the employees within the Group.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
The Group’s Internal Audit function evaluates the effectiveness of the governance, risk management and internal control
framework and recommends enhancement, where appropriate. The work of the internal audit function is focused on areas of
priority. The head of this function reports directly to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee receives reports on the
function’s work and findings and has been updated on issues that required further follow-up and rectification by management.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (cont’d)

REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS
As required by paragraph 15.23 of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, the external
auditors have reviewed this Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control. Their review was performed in accordance
with Malaysian Approved Standard on Assurance Engagements, ISAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information and RPG 5 (Revised) Guidance for Auditors on Engagements to Report on the Statement on Risk
Management and Internal Control Included in the Annual Report. External Auditors required to assess whether the Statement on
Risk Management and Internal Control appropriately reflects the disclosures required by paragraphs 41 and 42 of the
Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers.
Based on their review, the external auditors have reported to the Board that nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control intended to be included in the annual report is
not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the disclosures required by paragraphs 41 and 42 of the Statement
on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers to be set out, nor is factually inaccurate.
RPG 5 does not require the external auditors to consider whether the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control
covers all risks and controls, or to form an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control system including the assessment and opinion by the Board of Directors and management thereon. RPG 5 also
does not require the external auditors to consider whether the processes described to deal with material internal control
aspects of any significant issues disclosed in the annual report would, in fact, remedy the issues.

CONCLUSION
The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a sound system of internal controls and risk management which is an
ongoing process to support the Group’s business objective as well as safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s
assets.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1.

Status of Utilisation of Proceeds Raised from Rights Issue
During the year, the Company has fully utilised the rights issue proceeds of RM73,955,000 as approved by Securities
Commission. The details of the utilisation of the rights issue are as follows:-

Utilisation As Approved

Revised Amount
As Approved by
Securities
Commission (SC)

Utilisation
As At
30/04/14

RM’000

RM’000

7,746

7,746

-

25,209
20,000
10,000
10,000

25,209
20,000
10,000
10,000

-

1,000

1,000

-

73,955

73,955

-

Advertising and promotions
Development of i-City:Bridge financing for i-City
Long term investment in data centre
Investment in ICT facilities
Investment in the retail centre
Marketing network, sales and service outlet and
showroom for i-City
Total

2.

Balance
Unutilised

RM’000

Share Buybacks
As at 31 December 2013, the balance of 485,945 I-Berhad shares bought back during the previous financial years were
held as treasury shares and none of the said shares bought back were resold or cancelled during the financial year.

3.

Options or Convertible Securities
The Company did not issue any options or convertible securities during the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

4.

Depository Receipt Programme
The Company did not sponsor any depository receipt programme in the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

5.

Sanctions and/or Penalties
The Company and its subsidiaries, Directors and management have not been imposed any sanctions and/or penalties
by the relevant regulatory bodies.

6.

Non-audit Fees Paid/Payable
The amount of non-audit fees paid/ payable to the external Auditors, Messrs. BDO in respect of the financial year ended
31 December 2013 amounted to RM108,000.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION (cont’d)

7.

Variation in Results
There is no variance between the audited results for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 and the unaudited
results announced on 28 February 2014.

8.

Profit Guarantees
There were no profit guarantees given by the Company during the financial year.

9.

Material Contracts
During the financial year ended 31 December 2013 and/or since the end of the previous financial year, the Company
and/or its subsidiaries had entered into the following material contracts which are subject to the Company’s
shareholders’ approval at the Extraordinary General Meeting to be convened:On 19 July 2013, the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, I-City Properties Sdn Bhd (“I-City Properties”) entered
into a Joint Venture and Shareholders' Agreement with CPN Real Estate Sdn Bhd, CPN Malls Malaysia Sdn Bhd, Central
Plaza I-City Malls Malaysia Sdn Bhd, Central Plaza I-City Sdn Bhd and Central Plaza I-City Real Estate Sdn Bhd for the
development and management of a regional Retail Mall to be known as CentralPlaza@i-City, Section 7, Shah Alam,
Selangor Darul Ehsan. On the same date, the Company together with Central Plaza I-City Real Estate Sdn Bhd entered
into a Sale and Purchase Agreement for the acquisition of a part of the freehold land held under Geran No. 311885, Lot
No. 16965 and Geran No. 311886, Lot No. 16966, Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam, measuring approximately 11.12 acres for
a purchase consideration of RM72.66 million with the Vendor, The Peak @ KLCC Sdn Bhd and the Land Proprietors.
On 24 October 2013, I-Marcom Sdn Bhd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a conditional sale and
purchase agreement with Sumuracres Sdn Bhd to acquire a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 26180, Lot No.
242, Seksyen 63, Town and District of Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur measuring approximately 1.05
acres located along Jalan Changkat Kia Peng for a purchase consideration of RM132.0 million to be settled through the
issuance of Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks (“RCULS”) by the Company.
On 20 December 2013, I-City Properties entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with The Peak @ KLCC
Sdn Bhd to acquire a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 311884, Lot No. 16964, Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam,
District of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan measuring approximately 12.13 acres (“SOHO Land”) for a purchase
consideration of RM241.3 million to be settled a combination of Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks
(“ICULS”) and RCULS to be issued by the Company.
On 20 December 2013, City Centrepoint Sdn Bhd (“CCSB”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a
conditional sale and purchase agreement with The Peak @ KLCC Sdn Bhd to acquire a piece of freehold land which
currently forms part of the land held under Geran No. 311886, Lot No.16966, Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam, District of
Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan measuring approximately 7.45 acres (“Tower Land”) for a purchase
consideration of RM129.0 million to be settled by a combination of ICULS and RCULS to be issued by the Company.
On 1 April 2014, the Company entered into a termination and payment agreement to formalise an arrangement
between the Company and The Peak @ KLCC Sdn Bhd relating to the treatment of the purchase consideration payable
to The Peak @ KLCC Sdn Bhd pursuant to the proposed mall land acquisition by Central Plaza I-City Real Estate Sdn Bhd.
On 12 May 2014, the parties to the SOHO Land and Tower Land Sale and Purchase Agreements (“SPAs”) namely the
Company, I-City Properties, CCSB, The Peak @ KLCC Sdn Bhd and the Land Proprietors entered into Supplemental
Agreements to the SOHO Land and Tower Land SPAs respectively to delete a condition precedent in the SOHO Land and
Tower Land SPAs requiring for all amounts owing by The Peak @ KLCC Sdn Bhd to the Land Proprietors to be fully settled
by the SOHO Cut-Off Date and the Tower Cut-Off Date.
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CALENDAR OF SIGNIFICANT EVENTS 2013

JANUARY | USHERING THE CHINESE NEW YEAR

AUGUST | OPENING OF RED CARPET@i-CITY

OCTOBER | BEST WESTERN@i-CITY

Coundown with Radio 988 deejays - “988 Ular La” 2013 to usher the Chinese
New Year. A terrific Chinese New Year celebration with a variety of activities
and programme for the family.

Red Carpet@i-City was officiated by Y. Bhg. Datuk Seri Nazri Aziz, Minister of
Tourism and Culture Malaysia. The Red Carpet boasts 100 wax exhibits of
international icons, celebrities and sporting greats.

I-Berhad and Best Western International sealed a Strategic Alliance
Agreement, witnessed by YAB. Tan Sri Khalid Ibrahim, the Selangor Menteri
Besar. International Vice-President (International Operations - Asia & Middle
East) for the management of BEST WESTERN i-City Shah Alam hotel as well as
i-Suite @i-City by providing hospitality and building management services.

MAY | REGIONAL SHOPPING MALL JV - CentralPlaza@i-City

AUGUST | WORLD RECORD HOLDER IN i-CITY

DECEMBER | MISS TOURISM INTERNATIONAL 2013/2014

Sealing of a 1.5 million sq. ft. CentralPlaza@i-City, a flagship development by
i-City with a Gross Development Value of RM580 million. CPN Global Co. Ltd.
was represented by its CEO, Mr. Kobchai Chirathivat.

The world’s shortest man, Chandra Bahadur Dangi from Nepal visited Red
Carpet@i-City, to have his measurement taken for wax figuring.

True to its concept of elegance and charm, i-Suite@i-City, which is slated to
be one of the first few top-notch serviced residences in the Capital City of
Selangor, was unveiled by 60 Miss Tourism International 2013 delegates.

SEPTEMBER | OPENING OF HOUSE OF HORROR@i-City
Another new attraction at Leisure Park@i-City unveiled by Y. Bhg. Datuk Seri
Noh Omar.

DECEMBER | NEW YEAR COUNTDOWN@i-City

JULY | MALAYSIA’S 1ST INTERACTIVE WAX MUSEUM
All ready to welcome the Stars of the world to i-City. Red Carpet is the 1st.
all Stars interactive wax museum in an Oscar Award setting with all
interactive features.

Ushering in 2014, the year of The Horse.

I-BERHAD
Annual Report 2013

I-BERHAD
Annual Report 2013

34

35

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
St. John Charity Run for Kidney 2013
As part of the Group’s Corporate Social Responsibility
initiative, the Group has allowed various organisations to
hold their activities and events in i-City. During the year, St.
John Ambulance Malaysia and the Ministry of Education
Malaysia have both organised their activities in i-City with
events such as St. John Charity Run for Kidney 2013 and
1Malaysia Preschool Dance Move (Gerak Tari 1Malaysia
Prasekolah) respectively.

Runners at the starting line of St. John Charity Run

1Malaysia Preschool Dance Move

The St. John Charity Run for Kidney 2013 which was held at
i-City on 1 September was organised by St. John
Ambulance Malaysia, Selangor Coastal Area. The 10
kilometres charity run was held to generate funds to
subsidise dialysis patients’ treatments as well as to create
awareness amongst the general public the importance of
having a healthy lifestyle to promote healthy kidneys which
would thus enhance sportsmanship amongst the youth in
the State of Selangor.

On 1 October 2013, the 1Malaysia Preschool Dance Move
which was organised by the Ministry of Education Malaysia
was also held at i-City. The event was also held simultaneously
at different locations around the country with an objective of
achieving 100,000 participants nationwide. Amongst others,
the objectives of this programme were intended to:-

Uncover the talents and potential of preschoolers;
Improve the understanding and awareness of
preschoolers about their responsibilities to protect and
promote the cultural heritage;

Participants displaying their moves

Expose preschoolers to the art of zapin dance, original
and other folk dances in Malaysia;
Encourage preschoolers to be active in bolstering
cultural arts by learning the basics of dance;
Provide opportunities for preschoolers to show their
talents and creativity as well as to build their courage;
and
Leverage on the knowledge gained before stepping
into Year One later.
i-City was the venue sponsor for both the above events.
Participants with their broad smiles after their performance
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

Principal Activities
The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in
Note 9 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during
the financial year.

Results

Profit for the financial year

GROUP

COMPANY

RM

RM

43,969,023

8,437,483

43,968,494
529

8,437,483
-

43,969,023

8,437,483

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Dividends
Dividend paid since the end of the previous financial year was as follows:

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2012:
Interim single tier dividend of 4 sen per ordinary share, paid on 25 April 2013

RM
4,560,016

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2013, a final single tier dividend of 6 sen per ordinary share, amounting to
RM 6,840,025 has been proposed by the Directors for shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The
payment and entitlement dates will be announced at a later date.

Reserves and Provisions
There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (cont’d)

Issue of Shares and Debentures
The Company did not issue any new shares or debentures during the financial year.

Options Granted over Unissued Shares
No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company.

Directors
The Directors who have held office since the date of the last report are:
Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong
Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Eu Hong Chew
Liang Yew Ming
Ong Poh Ling
Goh Yeang Kheng

(Appointed on 1 July 2013)

Directors’ Interests
The Directors holding office at the end of the financial year and their beneficial interests in the ordinary shares of the Company
and of its related corporations during the financial year ended 31 December 2013 as recorded in the Register of Directors’
Shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 134 of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia were as follows:

NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES OF RM1.00 EACH
Balance
as at
1.1.2013

Balance
as at
31.12.2013

Bought

Sold

457,500
332,142
15,356

-

-

457,500
332,142
15,356

85,283,307

-

-

85,283,307*

Shares in the Company
Direct interests:
Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong
Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan
Ong Poh Ling

Indirect interests:
Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong
*

By virtue of his interest in Sumur Ventures Sdn. Bhd., a company incorporated in Malaysia, Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong is
deemed to have interests in the Company to the extent of Sumur Ventures Sdn. Bhd.’s interest therein, in accordance with
Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.

I-BERHAD
Annual Report 2013

39

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (cont’d)

Directors’ Interests (continued)
By virtue of his interests in the ordinary shares of the Company, Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong is also deemed to be interested
in the ordinary shares of all the subsidiaries to the extent that the Company has an interest.
Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong is the spouse of Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan. By virtue of their relationship, they are also
deemed to have interests in shares held by each other, both direct and indirect.
Other than disclosed above, none of the other Directors holding office at the end of the financial year held any interest in the
ordinary shares of the Company and of its related corporations during the financial year.

Directors’ Benefits
Since the end of the previous financial year, none of the Directors have received or become entitled to receive any benefit
(other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the Directors as
shown in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with a Director or
with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest,
except for any benefit which may be deemed to have arisen by virtue of the remuneration received and receivable by the
Directors from certain related corporations in their capacity as Directors or full time employees of those corporations and by
virtue of those transactions as disclosed in Note 32 to the financial statements.
Except as disclosed above, there were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year, to which the Company is
a party, which had the object of enabling the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Other Statutory Information regarding the Group and the Company
(I)

AS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
(a)

Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and
of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:
(i)

to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and
the making of provision for doubtful debts and have satisfied themselves that there are no
known bad debts to be written off and that adequate provision had been made for doubtful
debts; and

(ii)

to ensure that any current assets other than debts, which were unlikely to realise their book
values in the ordinary course of business had been written down to their estimated realisable
values.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (cont’d)

Other Statutory Information Regarding the Group and the Company (continued)
(I)

AS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR (continued)
(b)

(II)

FROM THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR TO THE DATE OF THIS REPORT
(c)

(d)

(III)

In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the
financial year have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and
unusual nature.

The Directors are not aware of any circumstances:
(i)

which would necessitate the writing off of bad debts or render the amount of the provision for
doubtful debts in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any
material extent; and

(ii)

which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the
Group and of the Company misleading; and

(iii)

which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or
liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

In the opinion of the Directors:
(i)

there has not arisen any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect
substantially the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year
in which this report is made; and

(ii)

no contingent or other liability has become enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable, within
the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which would or may affect the
ability of the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.

AS AT THE DATE OF THIS REPORT

(e)

There are no charges on the assets of the Group and of the Company which have arisen since the end of the
financial year to secure the liabilities of any other person.

(f )

There are no contingent liabilities of the Group and of the Company which have arisen since the end of the
financial year.

(g)

The Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial
statements which would render any amount stated in the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company misleading.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (cont’d)

Significant Events during the Financial Year
(a)

On 19 July 2013, the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, I-City Properties Sdn. Bhd. (‘ICP’) had executed the
Joint Venture and Shareholders' Agreement (‘JVSA’) with CPN Real Estate Sdn. Bhd. (‘CPN Real Estate’), CPN Malls
Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. (‘CPN Malls’), Central Plaza I-City Malls Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., Central Plaza I-City Sdn. Bhd. and
Central Plaza I-City Real Estate Sdn. Bhd. (‘Central Plaza I-City Real Estate’) for the development and management of
a regional Retail Mall to be known as CentralPlaza at i-City, Section 7, Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan.
The corporate structure of the joint venture with Central Pattana Public Company Limited of Thailand (‘CPN’) is as
follows:
(i)

The Company through ICP holds a 40% stake in a newly incorporated joint venture company, Central
Plaza I-City Malls Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. (‘JVCo’) thereby making it an associated company of the Group. CPN
through its subsidiaries, CPN Real Estate and CPN Malls holds 60% stake in the JVCo.

(ii)

A newly incorporated Central Plaza I-City Sdn. Bhd., a wholly owned subsidiary of Central Plaza I-City
Malls Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. would be the Mall Manager.

(iii)

A newly incorporated Central Plaza I-City Real Estate, a wholly owned subsidiary of Central Plaza I-City
Sdn. Bhd., would develop and own the Mall.

In accordance with the terms of the JVSA, Central Plaza I-City Real Estate and the Company had also executed a Land
Sale and Purchase Agreement with Sumur Heights Sdn. Bhd., Sumurwang Industries Sdn. Bhd., Top Capital Sdn.
Bhd., Sumur Marketing Sdn. Bhd. and Sumurwang Development Sdn. Bhd. and The Peak @ KLCC Sdn. Bhd., the
vendor and beneficial owner for a piece of freehold land which forms part of the land held under Geran No. 311885,
Lot No. 16965 and part of Geran No. 311886, Lot No. 16966 of Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam, District of Petaling, State
of Selangor Darul Ehsan (‘Mall Land’) measuring approximately 11.12 acres (484,376 sq ft) for a purchase
consideration of RM72.66 million for the development of the Retail Mall (‘Proposed Mall Land Acquisition’).

(b)

On 24 October 2013, the Company has announced the proposed acquisition by I-Marcom Sdn. Bhd. (‘I-Marcom’), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, of a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 26180, Lot No. 242,
Seksyen 63, Town and District of Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur measuring approximately 1.05
acres (45,764 sq ft) located along Jalan Changkat Kia Peng from Sumuracres Sdn. Bhd. (‘the Vendor’) for a purchase
consideration of RM132.00 million to be settled by way of allotment and issuance of the Redeemable Convertible
Unsecured Loan Stock (‘RCULS’) to the Vendor (‘Proposed Kia Peng Land Acquisition’).
On even date, I-Marcom had entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with the Vendor in relation to
the Proposed Kia Peng Land Acquisition.
The Proposal has been approved by shareholder of I-Marcom, and is now pending approvals from the shareholders
of the Company, Securities Commission Malaysia, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (‘Bursa Securities’) and other
relevant authorities.

(c)

On 18 November 2013, the Company has incorporated two new wholly-owned subsidiaries namely City Centrepoint
Sdn. Bhd. and World Citypoint Sdn. Bhd. with each having an authorised capital of RM400,000 divided into 400,000
ordinary shares of RM1 each and a paid-up capital of RM2 divided into 2 ordinary shares of RM1 each. Both of the
subsidiaries have not commenced business. The intended principal activities of the new subsidiaries are to act as
developers, land and property owners.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (cont’d)

Significant Events during the Financial Year (continued)
(d)

On 20 December 2013, the Company has announced the following proposals to Bursa Securities:

(i)

proposed share split involving the subdivision of every one (1) existing ordinary share of RM1.00 each in
I-Berhad into two (2) ordinary shares of RM0.50 each in I-Berhad (‘Proposed Share Split’);

(ii)

proposed renounceable rights issue of new ordinary shares in I-Berhad together with free detachable
warrants to raise gross proceeds of up to RM200.00 million (‘Proposed Rights Issue with Warrants’);

(iii)

proposed bonus issue of new ordinary shares in I-Berhad (‘Bonus Share(s)’) on the basis of one (1) Bonus
Share for every five (5) ordinary shares held (‘Proposed Bonus Issue’);

(iv)

proposed acquisition by I-City Properties Sdn. Bhd. (‘I-City Properties’), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, of a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 311884, Lot No. 16964, Seksyen 7, Bandar
Shah Alam, District of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan measuring approximately 12.13 acres from
The Peak @ KLCC Sdn. Bhd. (‘The Peak @ KLCC’) for a purchase consideration of RM241.30 million to be
settled by a combination of irredeemable convertible unsecured loan stocks (‘ICULS’) and RCULS issued
by I-Berhad (‘Proposed SOHO Land Acquisition’);

(v)

proposed acquisition by City Centrepoint Sdn. Bhd. (‘City Centrepoint’), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, of a piece of freehold land which currently forms part of the land held under Geran No.
311886, Lot No.16966, Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam, District of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan
measuring approximately 7.45 acres from The Peak @ KLCC for a purchase consideration of RM129.00
million to be settled by a combination of ICULS and RCULS issued by I-Berhad (‘Proposed Tower Land
Acquisition’);

(vi)

proposed renounceable restricted offer for sale of up to 50% of up to RM301.30 million five (5)-year 2%
stepping up to 3% ICULS at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each to be issued pursuant to the
Proposed SOHO Land Acquisition and/or the Proposed Tower Land Acquisition to the minority
shareholders of I-Berhad (‘Proposed OFS’);

(vii)

proposed increase in authorised share capital of I-Berhad from RM200,000,000 comprising 200,000,000
ordinary shares of RM1.00 each to RM1,000,000,000 (‘Proposed Increase in Authorised Share Capital’);

(viii)

proposed amendment to the memorandum of association of I-Berhad (‘Proposed Amendment’); and

(ix)

proposed establishment of a long term incentive plan of up to 10% of the issued and paid-up share
capital of the Company for eligible employees and eligible Directors of I-Berhad and its subsidiaries
(‘Proposed LTIP’).
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Significant Events during the Financial Year (continued)
(d)

On even date, I-City Properties had entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with The Peak @ KLCC in
relation to the Proposed SOHO Land Acquisition.
In addition, City Centrepoint had entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with The Peak @ KLCC in
relation to the Proposed Tower Land Acquisition.
The Proposed SOHO Land Acquisition and Proposed Tower Land Acquisition have been approved by shareholder of
I-City Properties and City Centrepoint, and are now pending approvals from the shareholders of the Company,
Securities Commission Malaysia, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (‘Bursa Securities’) and other relevant authorities.

Subsequent Events to the end of the Reporting Period
(a)

On 29 January 2014, the Red Carpet in I-City was partially destroyed by fire. There is no significant financial
implication to the Group as a result of the incident.

(b)

On 6 February 2014, the Company has announced the proposed ratification of the Joint Venture Agreement dated
10 February 2009 entered into between the Company and The Peak @ KLCC Sdn. Bhd. in place of the Joint Venture
Agreement dated 28 February 2006 entered into between the Company and Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd. for the
development of a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 27449, Lot No. 4598, Mukim of Bukit Raja, District of
Petaling, Selangor Darul Ehsan measuring approximately 72 acres, designated as the ‘i-City Project’ (‘Proposed
Ratification’).

(c)

On 1 April 2014, the Company has announced the proposed arrangement between the Company and The Peak @
KLCC in relation to the treatment of the purchase consideration from the Proposed Mall Land Acquisition (‘Proposed
Arrangement’).
On even date, the Company and The Peak @ KLCC had entered into a termination and payment agreement to
formalize the Proposed Arrangement.
In addition, the Company has announced the full details of the Proposed Ratification resulting from the finalisation
of the various appointments of advisers and the conclusions of the independent valuations on the affected
properties.
The Proposed Arrangement and Proposed Ratification are now pending approvals from the shareholders of the
Company, Securities Commission Malaysia, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (‘Bursa Securities’) and other relevant
authorities.

(d)

On 1 April 2014, its wholly-owned subsidiary, I-R&D Sdn. Bhd. has incorporated a new wholly-owned subsidiary
namely I-City Travel Sdn. Bhd. with an authorised capital of RM400,000 divided into 400,000 ordinary shares of RM1
each and a paid-up capital of RM2 divided into 2 ordinary shares of RM1 each. The intended principal activity of the
new subsidiary is to provide transportation services.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (cont’d)

Holding Companies
The Directors regard Sumur Ventures Sdn. Bhd. and Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd., as the ultimate and immediate holding companies
respectively. Both companies are incorporated in Malaysia.

Auditors
The auditors, BDO, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.
Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan

Dato’ Eu Hong Chew

Director

Director

Kuala Lumpur
7 April 2014
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 49 to 128 have been drawn up in accordance with
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2013 and of their financial performance and cash
flows for the financial year then ended.
In the opinion of the Directors, the information set out in Note 38 on page 129 to the financial statements has been compiled
in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context
of Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of
Accountants, and presented based on the format prescribed by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
On behalf of the Board,

Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan

Dato’ Eu Hong Chew

Director

Director

Kuala Lumpur
7 April 2014

STATUTORY DECLARATION
I, William Ong Eng San, being the Officer primarily responsible for the financial management of I-Berhad, do solemnly and
sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 49 to 129 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct
and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the
Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.
Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory on 7 April 2014.

William
liam Ong En
Eng San
Before me:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF I-BERHAD

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the financial statements of I-Berhad, which comprise statements of financial position as at 31 December 2013
of the Group and of the Company, and statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements
of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 49 to 128.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements so as to give a true and fair view in
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The Directors
are also responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as
at 31 December 2013 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance with
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF I-BERHAD (cont’d)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

(a)

In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company
and its subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of
the Act.

(b)

We have considered the financial statements and the auditors’ report of a subsidiary of which we have not acted as
auditors, which is indicated in Note 9 to the financial statements.

(c)

We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the financial
statements of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of
the financial statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by
us for those purposes.

(d)

The audit reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse
comment made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

Other Reporting Responsibilities
The supplementary information set out in Note 38 to the financial statements is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised
Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by
the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (‘MIA Guidance’) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion,
the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Other Matters
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act,
1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

BDO

Ng Soe Kei

AF : 0206
Chartered Accountants

2982/08/15 (J)
Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur
7 April 2014
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013

GROUP
Note

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

2,192

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

7

65,020,039

52,234,533

1,616

65,460,000
-

7,400,000

6,910,000

168,560,223

168,560,219

Investment properties

8

73,373,008

Investments in subsidiaries

9

-

Associates

10

3,479,733

675,304

-

-

Other investments

11

1

1

-

-

Goodwill

12

-

-

-

-

141,872,781

118,369,838

175,961,839

175,472,411

Current assets
Property development costs

13

61,672,594

56,628,158

-

-

Inventories

14

54,471,527

54,648,290

-

-

Trade and other receivables

15

58,988,501

15,388,537

14,711,746

5,825,281

Other investments

11

38,556

38,556

38,556

38,556

834,227

1,133,962

726,309

557,798

16

7,106,744

16,111,620

2,103,602

2,139,930

183,112,149

143,949,123

17,580,213

8,561,565

324,984,930

262,318,961

193,542,052

184,033,976

114,486,356

114,486,356

114,486,356

114,486,356

60,167,141

60,167,141

60,167,141

60,167,141

1,331,019

1,331,019

1,359,395

1,359,395

Current tax assets
Cash and cash equivalents

TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners
of the parent
Share capital

17

Share premium
Revaluation reserve
Exchange translation reserve

18

Retained earnings
Treasury shares

Non-controlling interests
TOTAL EQUITY

19

138,452

17,234

41,147,429

1,738,951

10,946,503

7,069,036

(509,121)

(509,121)

(509,121)

(509,121)

216,761,276

177,231,580

186,450,274

182,572,807

119,494

118,965

-

-

216,880,770

177,350,545

186,450,274

182,572,807
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-

-

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (cont’d)
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013

GROUP

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

20

2,868,990

2,155,247

790,076

749,159

21

104,544,181

82,495,961

6,301,702

712,010

690,989

317,208

-

-

105,235,170

82,813,169

6,301,702

712,010

TOTAL LIABILITIES

108,104,160

84,968,416

7,091,778

1,461,169

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

324,984,930

262,318,961

193,542,052

184,033,976

Note
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

GROUP
Note

2013
RM

COMPANY
2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

Revenue

22

152,147,839

66,656,181

9,000,000

11,373,127

Cost of sales

23

(86,644,417)

(35,853,151)

-

-

Gross profit

65,503,422

30,803,030

9,000,000

11,373,127

Fair value gain on
investment properties

12,995,635

-

490,000

-

1,042,769

2,844,939

338,253

2,750,396

(26,617,240)

(15,445,750)

(1,261,560)

(683,030)

Other income
Other expenses
Share of profit of an associate

58,169

35,304

Profit before tax

24

52,982,755

18,237,523

Tax expense

26

(9,013,732)

(1,578,106)

43,969,023

16,659,417

Profit for the financial year

-

-

8,566,693

13,440,493

(129,210)

(536,462)

8,437,483

12,904,031

-

-

Other comprehensive
income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translations

121,218

Total comprehensive income

44,090,241

16,613,713

8,437,483

12,904,031

43,968,494
529
43,969,023

16,818,019
(158,602)
16,659,417

8,437,483
8,437,483

12,904,031
12,904,031

44,089,712
529
44,090,241

16,772,315
(158,602)
16,613,713

8,437,483
8,437,483

12,904,031
12,904,031

38.57

14.75

-

-

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Basic and diluted earnings per
ordinary share attributable to
equity holders of the parent (sen)

30

(45,704)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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-

Total comprehensive income

7,961,474
7,961,474

(509,121)

-

114,486,356

Total transactions with owners

Balance as at 31 December 2012

-

-

(8,470,595)

RM

Treasury
shares

-

Share dividend
Dividend paid

Transactions with owners:

RM

114,486,356

-

19
31

Note

Profit for the financial year
Foreign currency translations

Balance as at 1 January 2012

GROUP

Share
capital

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

60,167,141

(362,419)

(362,419)
-

-

-

60,529,560

RM

Share
premium

1,331,019

-

-

-

-

1,331,019

RM

Revaluation
reserve

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

17,234

-

-

(45,704)

(45,704)

62,938

RM

Exchange
translation
reserve

1,738,951

(8,663,069)

(7,599,055)
(1,064,014)

16,818,019

16,818,019
-

(6,415,999)

RM

(Accumulated
loss)/Retained
earnings

177,231,580

(1,064,014)

(1,064,014)

16,772,315

16,818,019
(45,704)

161,523,279

RM

Total
attributable
to owners of
the parent

118,965

-

-

(158,602)

(158,602)
-

277,567

RM

Noncontrolling
interests

177,350,545

(1,064,014)

(1,064,014)

16,613,713

16,659,417
(45,704)

161,800,846

RM

Total
equity
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Balance as at 31 December 2013

Total transaction with owners

Dividend paid
-

(509,121)

-

114,486,356

-

-

(509,121)

RM

Treasury
shares

-

-

Total comprehensive income

Transaction with owners:

RM

114,486,356

-

31

Note

Profit for the financial year
Foreign currency translations

Balance as at 1 January 2013

GROUP

Share
capital

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (cont’d)

60,167,141

-

-

-

-

60,167,141

RM

Share
premium

1,331,019

-

-

-

-

1,331,019

RM

Revaluation
reserve

138,452

-

-

121,218

121,218

17,234

RM

Exchange
translation
reserve

216,761,276

(4,560,016)

(4,560,016)

44,089,712

43,968,494
121,218

177,231,580

RM

119,494

-

-

529

529
-

118,965

RM

Noncontrolling
interests

216,880,770

(4,560,016)

(4,560,016)

44,090,241

43,969,023
121,218

177,350,545

RM

Total
equity

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

41,147,429

(4,560,016)

(4,560,016)

43,968,494

43,968,494
-

1,738,951

RM

Retained
earnings

Total
attributable
to owners of
the parent
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114,486,356

Balance as at 31 December 2012
(509,121)

7,961,474

-

-

-

(8,470,595)

RM

Total transactions with owners

-

-

114,486,356

RM

7,961,474
-

19
31

Note

Treasury
shares

-

Share dividend
Dividend paid

Transactions with owners:

Total comprehensive income

Profit for the financial year

Balance as at 1 January 2012

COMPANY

Share
capital

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

1,359,395

-

(362,419)

60,167,141

-

-

-

1,359,395

RM

Revaluation
reserve

(362,419)
-

-

-

60,529,560

RM

Share
premium

(1,064,014)
(1,064,014)

182,572,807

(8,663,069)

7,069,036

12,904,031

12,904,031

170,732,790

RM

Total
equity

(7,599,055)
(1,064,014)

12,904,031

12,904,031

2,828,074

RM

Retained
earnings
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Balance as at 31 December 2013

Total transaction with owners

Dividend paid

Transaction with owners:

31
-

(509,121)

-

114,486,356

-

-

-

Profit for the financial year
-

(509,121)

114,486,356

Balance as at 1 January 2013

Total comprehensive income

RM

Note

Treasury
shares

RM

COMPANY

Share
capital

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (cont’d)

60,167,141

-

-

-

-

60,167,141

RM

Share
premium

186,450,274

(4,560,016)

(4,560,016)

10,946,503

(4,560,016)

8,437,483

(4,560,016)

8,437,483

8,437,483

182,572,807
7,069,036
8,437,483

RM

Total
equity
RM

Retained
earnings

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

1,359,395

-

-

-

-

1,359,395

RM

Revaluation
reserve

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

GROUP

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

52,982,755

18,237,523

8,566,693

13,440,493

7

12,977,017

7,192,229

576

576

7

1,929,839
-

-

(9,000,000)

(11,373,127)

8

(12,995,635)

-

(490,000)

-

(6,500)

-

-

(1,800,000)

-

(1,800,000)

Note
CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Write-off of property, plant
and equipment
Dividend income
Fair value adjustments on
investment properties
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of trademarks
Impairment losses on:
- other investments
- trade and other receivables
Interest income
Reversal of impairment
losses on trade receivables
Share of profit of an associate

(48,940)
7,053
(296,855)

8,262
38,291
(537,660)

3,000
(72,146)

(58,169)

(3,317)
(35,304)

-

Operating profit/(loss) before
changes in working capital

54,497,065

23,093,524

(991,877)

217,058

Changes in working capital:
Inventories
Property development costs
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

176,763
(5,044,436)
(43,662,648)
20,458,285

(191,136)
(31,252,256)
(11,259,961)
31,079,589

(8,693)
180,471

10,346
8,508

26,425,029

11,469,760

(820,099)

235,912

641,381
(8,267,854)

7,398
(986,411)

(256,804)

(307,086)

18,798,556

10,490,747

(1,076,903)

(71,174)

Cash generated from/
(used in) operations
Tax refunded
Tax paid
Net cash from/(used in)
operating activities

15(e)
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8,262
(59,146)
-

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (cont’d)
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

GROUP
Note

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

(4)
(2,746,256)
352,486

(40,000)
(600,000)
520,345

(4)
(30,000)
(9,750,772)
9,400,000
72,146

(6,625,308)
1,479,845
59,146

-

1,800,000

-

1,800,000

97,359

-

-

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of associates
Advances to associates
Advances to a related company
Advances to subsidiaries
Dividend received
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal
of trademarks
Proceeds from disposal of
property, plant and equipment
Development of
investment properties
Purchase of property, plant
and equipment

10

122,590
8

(2,298,008)

-

-

-

7(c)

(18,795,427)

(19,585,013)

-

-

(23,364,619)

(17,807,309)

(308,630)

(3,286,317)

Advances from immediate
holding company
Advances from subsidiaries
Dividend paid
31
Net released/(pledged) of fixed deposits

(4,560,016)
84,000

(1,064,014)
(123,000)

5,000,000
909,221
(4,560,016)
(39,000)

(1,064,014)
-

Net cash (used in)/
from financing activities

(4,476,016)

(1,187,014)

1,310,205

(1,064,014)

Net decrease in cash
and cash equivalents

(9,042,079)

(8,503,576)

(75,328)

(4,421,505)

121,203

(45,685)

15,988,620

24,537,881

2,139,930

6,561,435

7,067,744

15,988,620

2,064,602

2,139,930

Net cash used in
investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Effect of exchange rate changes
on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at
end of financial year

16

-

-

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

I-BERHAD
Annual Report 2013

57

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2013

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
I-Berhad (the ‘Company’) is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed
on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at D-1-4, Jalan Multimedia 7/AJ,
CityPark, i-City, 40000 Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan.
The Directors regard Sumur Ventures Sdn. Bhd. and Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd., as the ultimate and immediate holding
companies respectively. Both companies are incorporated in Malaysia.
The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries and the interests of the Group in associates. These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia
(‘RM’), which is also the functional currency of the Company.
The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution by the Board of Directors on
1 April 2014.

2.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in
Note 9 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the
financial year.

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company set out on pages 49 to 128 have been prepared in
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards (‘FRSs’) and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in
Malaysia.
However, Note 38 to the financial statements set out on page 129 has been prepared in accordance with Guidance
on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant
to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (‘MIA
Guidance’) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1

Basis of accounting
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the historical cost convention
except as otherwise stated in the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.1

Basis of accounting (continued)
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires the Directors to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and disclosure of
contingent assets and contingent liabilities. In addition, the Directors are also required to exercise their judgement in
the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving such judgements, estimates and assumptions
are disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements. Although these estimates and assumptions are based on the
Directors’ best knowledge of events and actions, actual results could differ from those estimates.

4.2

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group
controls an investee if and only if the Group has:
(a)
(b)
(c)

Power over the investee;
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

If the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:
(a)
(b)
(c)

The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
Rights arising from other contractual agreements; and
The voting rights of the Group and potential voting rights.

Intragroup balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised gains arising
from transactions with associates are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the interest of the Group in
the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there
is no impairment.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that of the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries are changed to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the other entities in the Group.
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries that are not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
owners of the parent, and is presented separately in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income and
within equity in the consolidated statements of financial position, separately from equity attributable to owners of
the Company. Statements of comprehensive income and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed
to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.2

Basis of consolidation (continued)
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group up to the effective date on which control ceases, as appropriate. Assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the financial year are included in the statements
of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
Changes in the Company owner’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the parent.
If the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between:
(a)

The aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest; and

(b)

The previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e.
reclassified to statements of comprehensive income or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner
as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investments retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, where applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in associate or jointly controlled entity.

4.3

Property, plant and equipment
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the asset.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when the cost is incurred and it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the subsequent costs
would flow to the Group and the cost of the asset could be measured reliably. The carrying amount of parts that are
replaced is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in
statements of comprehensive income as incurred. Cost also comprises the initial estimate of dismantling and
removing the asset and restoring the site on which it is located for which the Group is obligated to incur when the
asset is acquired, if applicable.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.3

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the
asset and which has a different useful life, is depreciated separately.
After initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of the assets to their residual values on a straight line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
annually. The principal depreciation periods and rates are as follows:
Sales gallery
Office equipment, furniture, fittings and fixtures and renovation
Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment

20%
10% to 33%
20%
10% to 50%

Freehold land is not depreciated as it has indefinite life.
Construction-in-progress represents buildings under construction and is stated at cost. Construction-in-progress is
not depreciated until such time when the asset is available for use.
At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. A
write down is made if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount (see Note 4.10 to the financial statements
on impairment of non-financial assets).
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to ensure
that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment. If
expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.
The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and
the carrying amount is included in statements of comprehensive income and the revaluation surplus related to those
assets, if any, is transferred directly to retained earnings.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.4

Leases
A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for a payment, or series of payments, the
right asset for an agreed period of time.
(a)

Operating leases
Accounting as lessee
Leases of assets where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor
are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to statements of
comprehensive income over the lease period.
Accounting as lessor
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in property, plant and equipment or investment
properties, where applicable, in the statements of financial position. They are depreciated over their useful
lives on bases consistent with similar owned property, plant and equipment or investment properties,
where applicable. Rental income (net of any incentives given to lessees) is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

4.5

Property development activities
(a)

Land held for property development
Land held for property development is stated at cost less impairment losses, if any. Such land is classified
as non-current asset when no significant development work has been carried out or where
development activities are not expected to be completed within the normal operating cycle.
Cost associated with the acquisition of land includes the purchase price of the land, professional fees,
stamp duties, commissions, conversion fees and other relevant levies.
Land held for property development is reclassified as property development costs at the point when
development activities have commenced and where it can be demonstrated that the development
activities can be completed within the normal operating cycle.

(b)

Property development costs
Property development costs comprise all costs that are directly attributable to the development
activities or that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities. They comprise the cost of land
under development, construction costs and other related development costs common to the whole
project including professional fees, stamp duties, commissions, conversion fees and other relevant levies
as well as borrowing costs.
Property development costs not recognised as an expense are recognised as an asset measured at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.5

Property development activities (continued)
(b)

Property development costs (continued)
When revenue recognised in statements of comprehensive income exceeds progress billings to
purchasers, the balance is classified as accrued billings under current assets. When progress billings
exceed revenue recognised in statements of comprehensive income, the balance is classified as progress
billings under current liabilities.

4.6

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rental yields or for capital appreciation or for both and
are not occupied by the Group. Investment properties also include properties that are being constructed or
developed for future use as investment properties. Investment properties are initially measured at cost, which
includes transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value.
If the Group determines that the fair value of an investment property under construction is not reliably determinable
but expects the fair value of the property to be reliably determinable when construction is complete, the Group shall
measure that investment property under construction at cost until either its fair value becomes reliably
determinable or construction is completed (whichever is earlier). Once the Group is able to measure reliably the fair
value of an investment property under construction that has previously been measured at cost, the Group shall
measure that property at its fair value.
The fair value of investment properties reflect among other things, rental income from current leases and other
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing investment properties under current market
conditions.
Fair values of investment properties are determined based on investment and comparison methods. It is performed
by registered independent valuers with appropriate recognised professional qualification and has recent experience
in the location and category of the investment properties being valued.
A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of investment properties is recognised in statements of
comprehensive income for the period in which it arises.
Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when they are permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The gains or losses arising from
the retirement or disposal of investment property is determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in statements of comprehensive income in
the period of the retirement or disposal.

4.7

Borrowings and borrowing costs
(a)

Classification
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between initial recognised amount and the
redemption value is recognised in the statements of comprehensive income over the period of the
borrowings using the effective yield method.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.7

Borrowings and borrowing costs (continued)
(a)

Classification (continued)
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are regarded as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is possible some or all of the facility will be drawdown. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
drawdown occurs to the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all the facility will be
drawdown. The fee is capitalised as a prepayment for a liquidity services and amortised over the period of
the facility of which is relates.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

(b)

Capitalisation of borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Borrowing costs incurred to finance property development activities and construction contracts are
accounted for in a similar manner. All other borrowing costs are expensed to the statements of
comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred.

4.8

Investments
(a)

Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity in which the Group and the Company are exposed, or have rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and have the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the subsidiary.
An investment in subsidiary, which is eliminated on consolidation, is stated in the separate financial
statements of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Put options written over
non-controlling interests on the acquisition of subsidiary shall be included as part of the cost of
investment in the separate financial statements of the Company. Subsequent changes in the fair value of
the written put options over non-controlling interests shall be recognised in statements of comprehensive
income. Investments accounted for at cost shall be accounted for in accordance with FRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations when they are classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale) in accordance with FRS 5.
When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction, event or other circumstance, the Group
would derecognise all assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at their carrying amount and
recognise the fair value of the consideration received. Any retained interest in the former subsidiary is
recognised at its fair value at the date control is lost. The resulting difference is recognised as a gain or loss
in statements of comprehensive income.

I-BERHAD
Annual Report 2013

64

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.8

Investments (continued)
(b)

Associate
An associate is an entity over which the Group and the Company have significant influence and that is
neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is neither control nor joint control over
those policies.
In the separate financial statements of the Company, an investment in associate is stated at cost less
impairment losses.
An investment in associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The investment in associate in the consolidated statements of financial position is
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change in the share of net assets
of the investments of the Group.
The interest in an associate is the carrying amount of the investment in the associate under the equity
method together with any long term interest that, in substance, form part of the net investment in the
associate of the Group.
The share of the profit or loss of the associate by the Group during the financial year is included in the
consolidated financial statements, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the
Group, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases.
Distributions received from the associate reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments to
the carrying amount could also be necessary for changes in the proportionate interest of the Group in the
associate arising from changes in the associate’s equity that have not been recognised in the associate’s
statement of comprehensive income. Such changes include those arising from the revaluation of property,
plant and equipment and from foreign exchange translation differences. The share of those changes by
the Group is recognised directly in equity of the Group.
When the share of losses of the Group in the associate equals to or exceeds its interest in the associate, the
carrying amount of that interest is reduced to nil and the Group does not recognise further losses unless it
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on its behalf.
The most recent available financial statements of the associate are used by the Group in applying the
equity method. When the end of the reporting periods of the financial statements are not coterminous, the
share of results is arrived at using the latest audited financial statements for which the difference in end of
the reporting periods is no more than three months. Adjustments are made for the effects of any
significant transactions or events that occur between the intervening periods.
When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, any retained interest in the former
associate at the date when significant influence is lost is measured at fair value and this amount is regarded
as the initial carrying amount of a financial asset. The difference between the fair value of any retained
interest plus proceeds from the interest disposed of and the carrying amount of the investment at the date
when equity method is discontinued is recognised in the statements of comprehensive income.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.8

Investments (continued)
(b)

Associate (continued)
When the interest of the Group in an associate decreases but does not result in a loss of significant
influence, any retained interest is not re-measured. Any gain or loss arising from the decrease in interest is
recognised in statements of comprehensive income. Any gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are also reclassified proportionately to the statements of comprehensive income if
that gain or loss would be required to be reclassified to statements of comprehensive income on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

4.9

Goodwill
Goodwill recognised in a business combination is an asset at the acquisition date and is initially measured at cost
being the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the
interest of the Group in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in statements of comprehensive
income as a bargain purchase gain.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Goodwill is not
amortised but instead tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount could be impaired. Objective events that would trigger a more frequent
impairment review include adverse industry or economic trends, significant restructuring actions, significantly
lowered projections of profitability or a sustained decline in the acquiree’s market capitalisation. Gains and losses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
Goodwill arising on acquisition of an associate is the excess of cost of investment over the share of the net fair value
of net assets of the associates’ identifiable assets and liabilities by the Group at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised. The
excess of the share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities by the Group over the cost
of investment is included as income in the determination of the share of the associate’s statement of comprehensive
income by the Group in the period in which the investment is acquired.

4.10

Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amount of assets, except for financial assets (excluding investments in subsidiaries and associates),
inventories, deferred tax assets and investment properties measured at fair value, are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.10

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
Goodwill that has an indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the goodwill might be impaired.
The recoverable amount of an asset is estimated for an individual asset. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of the individual asset, the impairment test is carried out on the cash generating unit (‘CGU’) to
which the asset belongs. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the CGU or groups of CGU of the Group that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination giving
rise to the goodwill irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units or
groups of units.
Goodwill acquired in a business combination shall be tested for impairment as part of the impairment testing of CGU
to which it relates. The CGU to which goodwill is allocated shall represent the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating segment determined
in accordance with FRS 8 Operating Segments.
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the higher of its fair value less cost to sell and its value in use.
In estimating the value in use, the estimated future cash inflows and outflows to be derived from continuing use of
the asset and from its ultimate disposal are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the future
cash flow estimates have not been adjusted. An impairment loss is recognised in statements of comprehensive
income when the carrying amount of the asset or the CGU, including the goodwill, exceeds the recoverable amount
of the asset or the CGU. The total impairment loss is allocated, first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the CGU on a pro-rata basis of the carrying amount of each asset
in the CGU.
The impairment loss is recognised in statements of comprehensive income immediately except for the impairment
on a revalued asset where the impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation reserve to the extent of
the surplus credited from the previous revaluation for the same asset with the excess of the impairment loss charged
to statements of comprehensive income.
An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. An impairment loss for other assets is
reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the assets’ recoverable amount
since the last impairment loss was recognised.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
Such reversals are recognised as income immediately in statements of comprehensive income except for the reversal
of an impairment loss on a revalued asset where the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase and credited to the revaluation reserve account of the same asset. However, to the extent that an
impairment loss on the same revalued asset was previously recognised in statements of comprehensive income, a
reversal of that impairment loss is also recognised in statements of comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.11

Inventories
(a)

Completed properties held for sale
Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost consists of
cost associated with the acquisition of land, direct costs and appropriate proportions of common costs
attributable to developing the properties to completion.

(b)

Consumables
Consumables are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the first in, first out formula. The cost comprises all costs of purchase, cost of
conversion plus other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

4.12

Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enterprise and a financial liability or
equity instrument of another enterprise.
A financial asset is any asset that is cash, an equity instrument of another enterprise, a contractual right to receive
cash or another financial asset from another enterprise, or a contractual right to exchange financial assets or financial
liabilities with another enterprise under conditions that are potentially favourable to the Group.
A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another
enterprise, or a contractual obligation to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another enterprise
under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group.
Financial instruments are recognised on the statements of financial position when the Group has become a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. At initial recognition, a financial instrument is recognised at fair value
plus, in the case of a financial instrument not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issuance of the financial instrument.
An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if the
economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative is not closely related to the economic characteristics
and risks of the host contract, a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative meets the
definition of a derivative, and the hybrid instrument is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.12

Financial instruments (continued)
(a)

Financial assets
A financial asset is classified into the following four categories after initial recognition for the purpose of
subsequent measurement:
(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial assets that are held for
trading (i.e. financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of resale in the near term),
derivatives (both, freestanding and embedded) and financial assets that were specifically
designated into this classification upon initial recognition.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss
are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial
assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in statements of
comprehensive income. Net gains or losses on financial assets classified as at fair value through
profit or loss exclude foreign exchange gains and losses, interest and dividend income. Such
income is recognised separately in statements of comprehensive income as components of
other income or other operating losses.
However, derivatives that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of unquoted equity
instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market are recognised at cost.

(ii)

Held-to-maturity investments
Financial assets classified as held-to-maturity comprise non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Group has the positive intention and
ability to hold to maturity.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as held-to-maturity are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses on financial assets classified
as held-to-maturity are recognised in statements of comprehensive income when the financial
assets are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

(iii)

Loans and receivables
Financial assets classified as loans and receivables comprise non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as loans and receivables are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses on financial
assets classified as loans and receivables are recognised in statements of comprehensive
income when the financial assets are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation
process.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.12

Financial instruments (continued)
(a)

Financial assets (continued)
(iv)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Financial assets classified as available-for-sale comprise non-derivative financial assets that are
designated as available for sale or are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at
fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets classified
as available-for-sale are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, except for
impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses, until the financial asset is
derecognised, at which time the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are recognised in statements of comprehensive income. However,
interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in statements of
comprehensive income whilst dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised
in statements of comprehensive income when the right of the Group to receive payment is
established.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank balances, bank overdrafts, fixed deposits pledged to
financial institutions, deposits and other short term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, which are readily convertible to cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes
in value.
A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the financial asset
has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying
amount and the sum of consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability
assumed) and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in other comprehensive
income shall be recognised in statements of comprehensive income.
A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or marketplace
convention. A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets shall be recognised and derecognised, as
applicable, using trade date accounting.

(b)

Financial liabilities
Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement. A financial liability is classified into the following two categories after initial
recognition for the purpose of subsequent measurement:
(i)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial liabilities that are held for
trading, derivatives (both, freestanding and embedded) and financial liabilities that were
specifically designated into this classification upon initial recognition.
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4.12

Financial instruments (continued)
(b)

Financial liabilities (continued)
(i)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities classified as at fair value through profit or
loss are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
financial liabilities classified as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in statements of
comprehensive income. Net gains or losses on financial liabilities classified as at fair value
through profit or loss exclude foreign exchange gains and losses, interest and dividend income.
Such income is recognised separately in statements of comprehensive income as components of
other income or other operating losses.

(ii)

Other financial liabilities
Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities comprise non-derivative financial
liabilities that are neither held for trading nor initially designated as at fair value through profit
or loss.
Subsequent to initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Gains or losses on other financial liabilities are recognised in
statements of comprehensive income when the financial liabilities are derecognised and
through the amortisation process.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, it is extinguished, i.e. when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. An exchange between an existing borrower
and lender of debt instruments with substantially different terms are accounted for as an extinguishment
of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, a substantial
modification of the terms of an existing financial liability is accounted for as an extinguishment of the
original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
Any difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability extinguished or transferred to another
party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in statements of comprehensive income.
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

(c)

Equity
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and the
Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are classified as equity instruments.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.12

Financial instruments (continued)
(c)

Equity (continued)
Ordinary shares are recorded at the nominal value and proceeds in excess of the nominal value of shares
issued, if any, are accounted for as share premium. Both ordinary shares and share premium are classified
as equity. Transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of
any related income tax benefit. Otherwise, they are charged to statements of comprehensive income.
Interim dividends to shareholders are recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared. Final
dividends are recognised upon the approval of shareholders in a general meeting.
The Group measures a liability to distribute non-cash assets as a dividend to the owners of the Company
at the fair value of the assets to be distributed. The carrying amount of the dividend is remeasured at each
reporting date and at the settlement date, with any changes recognised directly in equity as adjustments
to the amount of the distribution. On settlement of the transaction, the Group recognises the difference, if
any, between the carrying amount of the assets distributed and the carrying amount of the liability in
statements of comprehensive income.
When the Group repurchases its own shares, the shares repurchased would be accounted for using the
treasury stock method.
Where the treasury stock method is applied, the shares repurchased and held as treasury shares shall be
measured and carried at the cost of repurchase on initial recognition and subsequently. It shall not be
revalued for subsequent changes in the fair value or market price of the shares.
The carrying amount of the treasury shares shall be offset against equity in the statements of financial
position. To the extent that the carrying amount of the treasury shares exceeds the share premium
account, it shall be considered as a reduction of any other reserves as may be permitted by the Main
Market Listing Requirements.
No gain or loss is recognised in statements of comprehensive income on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the own equity instruments of the Company. If such shares are issued by resale, any
difference between the sales consideration and the carrying amount is shown as a movement in equity.

4.13

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired at the end of each
reporting period.
(a)

Loans and receivables
The Group collectively considers factors such as the probability of bankruptcy or significant financial
difficulties of the receivable, and default or significant delay in payments by the receivable, to determine
whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables has occurred. Other
objective evidence of impairment include historical collection rates determined on an individual basis and
observable changes in national or local economic conditions that are directly correlated with the historical
default rates of receivables.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.13

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(a)

Loans and receivables (continued)
If any such objective evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in statements of
comprehensive income.
The carrying amount of loans and receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and it objectively relates to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to
the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The
amount of impairment reversed is recognised in statements of comprehensive income.

(b)

Available-for-sale financial assets
The Group collectively considers factors such as significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost,
significant financial difficulties of the issuer or obligor, and the disappearance of an active trading market as
objective evidence that available-for-sale financial assets are impaired.
If any such objective evidence exists, an amount comprising the difference between the financial asset’s
cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation) and current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in statements of comprehensive income, is transferred from equity to statements of
comprehensive income.
Impairment losses in respect of unquoted equity instrument that is carried at cost is recognised in
statements of comprehensive income and is measured as the difference between the financial asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate
of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments are not reversed in statements of
comprehensive income in subsequent periods. Instead, any increase in the fair value subsequent to the
impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale debt investments are subsequently reversed in statements of
comprehensive income if the increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss in statements of comprehensive income.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.14

Income taxes
Income taxes include all domestic and foreign taxes on taxable profit. Income taxes also include other taxes, such as
withholding taxes and real property gains taxes payable on disposal of properties, if any.
Taxes in the statements of comprehensive income comprise current tax and deferred tax.
(a)

Current tax
Current tax expenses are determined according to the tax laws of each jurisdiction in which the Group
operates and include all taxes based upon the taxable profits (including withholding taxes) and real
property gains taxes payable on disposal of properties, if any.

(b)

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised in full using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the
carrying amount of an asset or liability in the statements of financial position and its tax base.
Deferred tax is recognised for all temporary differences, unless the deferred tax arises from goodwill or the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the
time of transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits would be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits
can be utilised. The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting
period. If it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits would be available to allow the benefit of
part or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilised, the carrying amount of the deferred tax asset would be
reduced accordingly. When it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits would be available, such
reductions would be reversed to the extent of the taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxation
authority on either:
(i)
(ii)

the same taxable entity; or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Deferred tax would be recognised as income or expense and included in statements of comprehensive
income for the period unless the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different
period, directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax would be charged or credited directly to equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on the announcement of tax rates and tax laws by the
Government in the annual budgets which have the substantive effect of actual enactment by the end of
the reporting period.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.15

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event, and
when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits would be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
If the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision would be discounted to its present
value at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the liability.
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is
no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits would be required to settle the
obligation, the provision would be reversed.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. If the Group has a contract that is onerous, the present
obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured as a provision.

4.16

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence would be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Group or a
present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources would be required
to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot
be recognised because it cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not recognise a contingent liability but
discloses its existence in the financial statements.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose existence would be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Group. The Group
does not recognise a contingent asset but discloses its existence where the inflows of economic benefits are
probable, but not virtually certain.
In the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group under business combinations, contingent liabilities assumed are
measured initially at their fair value at the acquisition date.

4.17

Employee benefits
(a)

Short term employee benefits
Wages, salaries, social security contributions, paid annual leave, paid sick leave, bonuses and
non-monetary benefits are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed when employees
rendered their services to the Group.
Short term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised as an expense
when employees render services that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short
term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur
and they lapse if the current period’s entitlement is not used in full and do not entitle employees to a cash
payment for unused entitlement on leaving the Group.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.17

Employee benefits (continued)
(a)

Short term employee benefits (continued)
Bonuses are recognised as an expense when there is a present, legal or constructive obligation to make
such payments, as a result of past events and when a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

(b)

Defined contribution plans
The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in Malaysia make contributions to a statutory provident
fund. The contributions are recognised as a liability after deducting any contribution already paid and as an
expense in the period in which the employees render their services.

4.18

Foreign currencies
(a)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the entities of the Group are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (‘RM’), which is the functional and
presentation currency of the Company.

(b)

Foreign currency transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into the functional currency at rates of exchange ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting
period are translated into the functional currency at rates of exchange ruling at that date. All exchange
differences arising from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation of foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities are included in statements of comprehensive income in the period
in which they arise. Non-monetary items initially denominated in foreign currencies, which are carried at
historical cost are translated using the historical rate as of the date of acquisition, and non-monetary items,
which are carried at fair value are translated using the exchange rate that existed when the values were
determined for presentation currency purposes.

(c)

Foreign operations
Financial statements of foreign operations are translated at end of the reporting period exchange rates
with respect to their assets and liabilities, and at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions with
respect to the statements of comprehensive income. All resulting translation differences are recognised as
a separate component of equity.
Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the net investment of the Company in
a foreign operation shall be recognised in statements of comprehensive income in the separate financial
statements of the Company or the foreign operation, as appropriate. In the consolidated financial
statements, such exchange differences shall be recognised initially as a separate component of equity and
recognised in statements of comprehensive income upon disposal of the net investment.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.18

Foreign currencies (continued)
(c)

Foreign operations (continued)
Goodwill and fair value adjustments to the assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the acquired entity and translated at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of each reporting period.

4.19

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivables, net of discounts and rebates.
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction
would flow to the Group, and the amount of revenue and the cost incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be reliably measured and specific recognition criteria have been met, as follows:

(a)

Property development
Property development revenue is recognised in respect of all development units that have been sold.
Revenue recognition commences when the sale of the development unit is effected, upon the
commencement of development and construction activities and when the financial outcome can be
reliably estimated. The attributable portion of property development cost is recognised as an expense in
the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of such revenue and expenses
recognised is determined by reference to the stage of completion of development activity at the end of the
reporting period. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the proportion that property
development costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total property development
cost.
When the financial outcome of a development activity cannot be reliably estimated, the property
development revenue is recognised only to the extent of property development costs incurred that is
probable to be recoverable and the property development costs on the development units sold are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Any expected loss on a development project is recognised as an expense immediately, including costs to
be incurred over the defects liability period.

(b)

Rental income
Rental income is accounted for on a straight line basis over the lease term of an ongoing lease. The
aggregate cost of incentives provided to the lessee is recognised as reduction of rental income over the
lease term on a straight line basis.

(c)

Maintenance fee
Maintenance fee is accounted for on an accrual basis.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.19

Revenue recognition (continued)
(d)

Income from leisure activities
Revenue from promotion, marketing and management of events, leisure and other tourism related
activities is recognised when services are rendered.

(e)

Sales of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
have been transferred to the customer and where the Group does not have continuing managerial
involvement over the goods, which coincides with the delivery of goods and acceptance by customers.

(f )

Services
Revenue from the provision of services in relation to management of network and telephony as well as
development of MSC Cybercentre and Technopreneur Campus is recognised when services are rendered.

(g)

Completed properties held for sale
Revenue from the sales of completed properties held for sale is recognised as and when the transfer of
significant risks and rewards of ownership to the buyer upon signing of sale and purchase agreement has
been completed.

(h)

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(i)

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method.

4.20

Earnings per share
(a)

Basic
Basic earnings per ordinary share for the financial year is calculated by dividing the profit for the financial
year attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year.

(b)

Diluted
Diluted earnings per ordinary share for the financial year is calculated by dividing the profit for the financial
year attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year adjusted for the effects of dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.21

Operating segments
Operating segments are defined as components of the Group that:
(a)

engages in business activities from which it could earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues
and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the Group);

(b)

whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision makers of the Group (i.e.
the Directors) in making decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assessing its
performance; and

(c)

for which discrete financial information is available.

An operating segment may engage in business activities for which it has yet to earn revenues.
The Group reports separately information about each operating segment that meets any of the following
quantitative thresholds:
(a)

Its reported revenue, including both sales to external customers and intersegment sales or transfers, is 10
per cent or more of the combined revenue, internal and external, of all operating segments.

(b)

The absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is 10 per cent or more of the greater, in absolute amount
of:

(c)

(i)

the combined reported profit of all operating segments that did not report a loss; and

(ii)

the combined reported loss of all operating segments that reported a loss.

Its assets are 10 per cent or more of the combined assets of all operating segments.

Operating segments that do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds may be considered reportable, and
separately disclosed, if the management believes that information about the segment would be useful to users of
the financial statements.
Total external revenue reported by operating segments shall constitute at least 75 percent of the revenue of the
Group. Operating segments identified as reportable segments in the current financial year in accordance with the
quantitative thresholds would result in a restatement of prior period segment data for comparative purposes.
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5.

ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENT TO FRSs

5.1

New FRSs adopted during the financial year
The Group and the Company adopted the following accounting standards, amendments and interpretations of the
FRS Framework that were issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (‘MASB’) during the financial year.
Title
Amendments to FRS 101
FRS 10
FRS 11
FRS 12
FRS 13
FRS 119
FRS 127
FRS 128
Amendments to FRS 7
Amendments to FRSs
Amendments to FRS 10,
FRS 11 and FRS 12

Effective Date
Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Financial Statements
Joint Arrangements
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
Fair Value Measurement
Employee Benefits (2011)
Separate Financial Statements
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities
Annual Improvements 2009 – 2011 Cycle
Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance

1 July 2012
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013

The adoption of the above accounting standards, amendments and interpretations of the FRS Framework had
no material impact on the financial statements of the Group and the Company.

5.2

New FRSs that have been issued, but only effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2014
The following are accounting standards, amendments and interpretations of the FRS Framework that have been
issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (‘MASB’) but have not been early adopted by the Group
and the Company.
Title

Effective Date

Consolidated Financial Statements: Investment Entities
Amendments to FRS 10
Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities: Investment Entities
Amendments to FRS 12
Separate Financial Statements (2011): Investment Entities
Amendments to FRS 127
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Amendments to FRS 132
Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-financial Assets
Amendments to FRS 136
Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments to FRS 119)
Annual Improvements 2010 – 2012 Cycle
Amendments to FRSs
Annual Improvements 2011 – 2013 Cycle
Amendments to FRSs
Mandatory Effective Date of FRS 9 and Transition Disclosures
Financial Instruments (2009)
FRS 9
Financial Instruments (2010)
FRS 9
Financial Instruments (Hedge Accounting and
FRS 9
Amendments to FRS 9, FRS 7 and FRS 139)

1 January 2014
1 January 2014
1 January 2014
1 January 2014
1 January 2014
1 July 2014
1 July 2014
1 July 2014
Deferred
Deferred
Deferred
Deferred
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5.

ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENT TO FRSs (continued)

5.2

New FRSs that have been issued, but only effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2014 (continued)
The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of implementing these accounting standards, amendments and
interpretations, since the effect would only be observable for the future financial years.

6.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

6.1

Changes in estimates
Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Directors are of the opinion that there are no significant changes in estimates during the reporting period and at
the end of the reporting period.

6.2

Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies
The following are judgements made by management in the process of applying the accounting policies of the
Group that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
(a)

Classification between investment properties and property and plant and equipment
The Group has developed certain criteria based on FRS 140 in making judgement whether a property
qualifies as an investment property. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
If these portions could be sold separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease), the Group would
account for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as investment property.

(b)

Operating lease commitments - the Group as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which are
leased out as operating leases.
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6.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

6.3

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year.
(a)

Property development
The Group recognises revenue from property development and the related expenses in statements of
comprehensive income by using the stage of completion method. The percentage of completion is
determined by the proportion that property development costs incurred for work performed to date
compares to the estimated total property development costs.
Significant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of the property
development costs incurred, the estimated total property development revenue and costs, as well as the
recoverability of the development projects. The property development also includes an estimation of
variation works that are recoverable from customers. In making the judgement, the Group evaluates by
relying on past experience and the work of specialists.

(b)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the time the assets are acquired
based on historical experience, the expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, and technical
obsolescence arising from changes in the market demands or service output of the assets. The estimated
useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations
differ from previous estimates due to changes in factors mentioned above. Changes in these factors could
impact the useful lives and the residual values of the assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be
revised.

(c)

Impairment of assets
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for its assets at the end of each
reporting period. Assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. Such assessment requires management to make an estimate of the recoverable
amounts and where expectations differ from the original estimates, the differences will impact the carrying
amounts of assets. In assessing such impairment, the recoverable amount of the assets is estimated using
the latest available fair value after taking into account the costs to sell or expected value in use of the
relevant assets.
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6.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

6.3

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
(d)

Fair value of investment properties
Fair values of investment properties are determined based on investment and comparison methods. It is
performed by registered independent valuers with appropriate recognised professional qualification and has
recent experience in the location and category of the investment properties being valued.

(e)

Impairment of receivables
The Group makes impairment of receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability of receivables.
Impairment is applied to receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. The management specifically analyses historical bad debt, receivable
creditworthiness, current economic trends and changes in receivable payment terms when making a
judgement to evaluate the adequacy of impairment of receivables. Where expectations differ from the
original estimates, the differences would impact the carrying value of receivables.

(f )

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and associates and amounts owing by subsidiaries and
associates
The Company reviews the investments in subsidiaries and associates for impairment when there is an
indication of impairment and assess the impairment of receivables on the amounts owing by subsidiaries
and associates when the receivables are long outstanding.
The recoverable amounts of the investments in subsidiaries and associates and amounts owing by
subsidiaries and associates are assessed by reference to the value in use of the respective subsidiaries and
associates.
The value in use is the net present value of the projected future cash flows derived from the business
operations of the respective subsidiaries and associates discounted at an appropriate discount rate. For
such discounted cash flow method, it involves the use of estimated future results and a set of assumptions
to reflect their income and cash flows. Judgement had also been used to determine the discount rate for
the cash flows and the future growth of the businesses of the subsidiaries and associates.
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7.

98,602
2,108,789
350,620
12,695,218
3,838,028
1,294,105
20,385,362

1,750,231
222,552
36,790,061
2,845,008
8,817,794
52,234,533

RM

7,380,635

7,380,635
-

-

RM

Transfer from
investment
properties
Additions
(Note 8)

1,808,887

RM

Balance
as at
1.1.2013

Sales gallery
Office equipment, furniture, fittings and fixtures and renovation
Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment
Hotel properties under construction
Construction-in-progress

At 31.12.2013

Sales gallery
Office equipment, furniture, fittings
and fixtures and renovation
Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment
Hotel properties under construction
Construction-in-progress

Carrying amount

2013

GROUP

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(73,650)

(73,650)
-

-

RM

Disposals

(744,517)
(9,406,266)
(737,520)
(15,515,959)
-

(26,404,262)

2,213,402
12,120,018
1,102,129
51,813,167
14,063,671
10,111,899

91,424,286

-

15

15

RM

RM

-

Translation
adjustments
RM

Accumulated
depreciation

(1,121,810)
(134,913)
(11,281,690)
-

Cost

(23,458)
(1,906,381)
-

(438,604)

RM

Depreciation
charge for the
financial year

(12,977,017)

15

15

-

RM

Written
off

(1,929,839)

-

-

RM

Translation
adjustments

65,020,039

1,468,885
2,713,767
364,609
36,297,208
14,063,671
10,111,899

RM

Carrying
amount

65,020,039

2,713,767
364,609
36,297,208
14,063,671
10,111,899

1,468,885

RM

Balance
as at
31.12.2013
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7.

20,966,866

21,749,647

16,801,127

4,627,042
1,260,884
8,817,794

276,385
19,086,964
1,584,124
-

3,172,795
410,873
18,165,979
-

RM

2,095,407

RM

Reclassified
from property
development costs
Additions
(Note 13)

19,393

-

RM

Balance
as at
1.1.2012

Sales gallery
Office equipment, furniture, fittings and fixtures and renovation
Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment
Hotel properties under construction
Construction-in-progress

At 31.12.2012

Sales gallery
Office equipment, furniture, fittings
and fixtures and renovation
Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment
Hotel properties under construction
Construction-in-progress

Carrying amount

2012

GROUP

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

RM
(305,913)
(8,395,531)
(788,840)
(7,608,088)
-

(17,098,372)

RM
2,114,800
10,145,781
1,011,392
44,398,149
2,845,008
8,817,794

69,332,924

(19)

(19)

Accumulated
depreciation

-

-

RM

Cost

(90,859)

(90,859)
-

-

RM

Disposals

Translation
adjustments

-

-

(19)

(19)

Translation
adjustments
RM

52,234,533

1,808,887
1,750,231
222,552
36,790,061
2,845,008
8,817,794

RM

Carrying
amount

52,234,533

1,750,231
222,552
36,790,061
2,845,008
8,817,794
(1,608,071)
(188,321)
(5,089,924)
(7,192,229)

1,808,887

RM

Balance
as at
31.12.2012

(305,913)

RM

Depreciation
charge for the
financial year

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

7.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

COMPANY
2013

Balance
as at
1.1.2013
RM

Carrying amount

2,192

Office equipment

At 31.12.2013

Office equipment

2012

Balance
as at
31.12.2013

RM

RM

RM

(576)

1,616

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
amount

RM

RM

RM

3,200

(1,584)

1,616

-

Balance
as at
1.1.2012

Additions

RM

RM

Office equipment

2,768

At 31.12.2012

Office equipment

(a)

Additions

Depreciation
charge for the
financial year

Depreciation
charge for the
financial year

Balance
as at
31.12.2012

RM

RM

(576)

2,192

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
amount

RM

RM

RM

3,200

(1,008)

2,192

-

In the current financial year, hotel properties under construction of the Group transferred from investment
properties is in respect of land cost of the hotel.
In the previous financial year, building, plant and equipment, hotel properties under construction and
construction-in-progress of the Group transferred from property development costs were mainly in respect
of sales gallery (‘i-Gallery’), event centre (‘i-Walk’), hotel and shopping mall.

(b)

Included in hotel properties under construction of the Group is freehold land provided by a company
pursuant to the Joint Venture arrangement as disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

7.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
(c)

During the financial year, the Group made the following cash payments to purchase property, plant and
equipment:

GROUP

8.

2013
RM

2012
RM

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Reversal of/(Accrued) purchase consideration of freehold land
Accrued development cost of property, plant and equipment
Unsettled and remained as other payables

20,385,362
1,381,853
(2,271,005)
(700,783)

20,966,866
(1,381,853)
-

Cash payments on purchase of property, plant and equipment

18,795,427

19,585,013

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
GROUP

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

65,460,000

65,460,000

6,910,000

6,910,000

(7,380,635)

-

-

12,995,635

-

71,075,000

65,460,000

7,400,000

At 1 January
Investment properties under construction

2,298,008

-

-

-

At 31 December

2,298,008

-

-

-

73,373,008

65,460,000

7,400,000

Note
At fair value
At 1 January
Transfer to property, plant
and equipment
Net fair value gain recognised
in statements of
comprehensive income

7

At 31 December

490,000

-

6,910,000

At cost

Total investment properties
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

8.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties generating rental income during the financial year are
as follows:

GROUP

Repair and maintenance
Quit rent and assessment

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

451,160
108,697

587,837
94,283

49,858
54,697

49,858
55,660

559,857

682,120

104,555

105,518

Title deeds
Title deeds pertaining to certain investment properties are in the process of being transferred to a subsidiary’s name.
Freehold land
Freehold land in respect of the investment properties is provided by a company pursuant to the Joint Venture
arrangement as disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.
As at the end of the reporting period, the Group accrued an amount of RM2,460,793 (2012: RM2,460,793) for the
purchase consideration of the freehold land.
Investment properties under construction
Investment properties under construction represent car park lots under construction.
The fair value of investment properties under construction amounting to RM2,298,008 (2012: Nil) cannot be reliably
and separately determined until the construction is completed or the fair value becomes reliably determinable,
whichever is earlier.
Fair value
The fair value of investment properties of the Group and the Company are categorised as follows:

GROUP

Level 1
RM

Level 2
RM

Level 3
RM

Total
RM

2013
Investment properties

-

43,875,000

27,200,000

71,075,000

2012
Investment properties

-

65,460,000

-

65,460,000

-

7,400,000

-

7,400,000

COMPANY
2013
Investment properties
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

8.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value (continued)
The fair value of investment properties of the Group and the Company are categorised as follows (continued):

COMPANY

Level 1
RM

Level 2
RM

Level 3
RM

Total
RM

-

6,910,000

-

6,910,000

2012
Investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on valuations performed by independent professional valuer,
who holds a recognised relevant professional qualification and has recent experience in the locations and categories
of investment properties valued. Based on the valuation reports dated 31 December 2013, the fair value of the
investment properties as at 31 December 2013 was RM71,075,000.
Fair value is determined based on both investment and comparison methods of valuations using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs) and observable inputs (Level 2 inputs) respectively. Changes in fair value are
recognised in the statements of comprehensive income during the period in which they are reviewed.
The unobservable inputs include:
Term rental

- the expected rental that the investment properties are expected to achieve
and is derived from current rental, including revision upon renewal of
tenancies during the year;

Outgoings

- including quit rent and assessment, service charges, utilities costs, and
repair and maintenance;

Reversionary rental

- the expected rental that the investment properties are expected to achieve
upon expiring of term rental;

Yield

- based on actual location, size and condition of the investment properties
and taking into account market data at the valuation date;

Allowance for void

- allowance provided for vacancy period

Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as at 31 December 2013
is as follows:

Parameters
Valuation
technique
Block M,
Data Centre

Investment
method

Fair
value
RM

Term
rental
RM psf

Outgoing
RM psf

Reversionary
rental
RM psf

Yield
%

Allowance
for void
%

27,200,000

3.26 - 3.60

0.74

3.90

6.00

5.00
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

8.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value (continued)
The following table shows a reconciliation of balances of investment properties whose fair values have been
classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

GROUP
Note
At 1 January
Transfer into Level 3
Fair value gain recognised in statements of comprehensive income

a

At 31 December
(a)

9.

2013
RM

2012
RM

26,000,000
1,200,000

-

27,200,000

-

During the previous financial year, the external valuation for the investment property of the Group was
performed using a comparison method, which resulted in a Level 2 fair value. However, during the financial
year, there has been a change in independent professional valuer and the valuation was performed using
significant unobservable inputs. The external valuer, in discussion with the internal valuation team of the
Group, has determined these input based on the term, rental, outgoings, reversionary rental, yield and
allowance for void. Therefore, the fair value was reclassified to Level 3.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

COMPANY
2013
RM

2012
RM

Unquoted equity shares, at cost
Less: Impairment loss

7,850,662
(3,454,278)

7,850,658
(3,454,278)

Quasi-equity loan to subsidiaries

4,396,384
164,163,839

4,396,380
164,163,839

168,560,223

168,560,219

Quasi-equity loan to subsidiaries is respect of advances and payments made on behalf, which are not expected to be
settled in the foreseeable future. These amounts are, in substance, part of the Company’s investments in the
subsidiaries.
The details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of company
I-City Marketing Sdn. Bhd.

Country of
incorporation
Malaysia

Equity interest
2013
2012
%
%
100
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100

Principal activities
Property developer, contractor for
construction work, land and
property owner, property and
complex manager

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

9.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
The details of the subsidiaries are as follows (continued):

Name of company

Country of
incorporation

Equity interest
2013
2012
%
%

Principal activities

I-City Properties Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

100

Property developer, contractor for
construction work, land and
property owner, property and
complex manager

I-City (Selangor) Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

100

Management and development of
i-City, Shah Alam as a MSC Malaysia
Cybercentre and Technopreneur
Campus

City Centrepoint Sdn. Bhd.*

Malaysia

100

-

Property developers and contractors
for construction work, land and
property owners

World Citypoint Sdn. Bhd.*

Malaysia

100

-

Property developers and contractors
for construction work, land and
property owners

I-Marcom Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiary

Malaysia

100

100

Investment holding and property
development activities

Malaysia

100

100

Advertising agent, advertiser and
advertising contractor

Malaysia

100

100

Investment and property holdings

Malaysia

80

80

Management of network and
telephony services

Malaysia

100

100

Investment
holding,
property
management and property
investment

I-City Resorts Sdn. Bhd.
(formerly known as
I-Home Sdn. Bhd.)

Malaysia

100

100

Promotion,
marketing
and
management of events, leisure
and other tourism related
activities

I-Digital (Shanghai) Trading Co. Ltd. **

People’s
Republic
of China

100

100

Dormant

I-Think Sdn. Bhd.

I-R&D Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiary

I-Office2 Sdn. Bhd.
I-Silicon Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiaries

*
**

Not required to be audited and was consolidated using management financial statements.
Not audited by BDO or BDO member firms.
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9.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
On 18 November 2013, the Company has incorporated two new wholly-owned subsidiaries namely City Centrepoint
Sdn. Bhd. and World Citypoint Sdn. Bhd. with each having an authorised capital of RM400,000 divided into 400,000
ordinary shares of RM1 each and a paid-up capital of RM2 divided into 2 ordinary shares of RM1 each. Both of the
subsidiaries have not commenced business. The intended principal activities of the new subsidiaries are to act as
developers, land and property owners.

10.

ASSOCIATES
GROUP

At cost:
- Unquoted equity shares
- Share of post acquisition reserves, net of dividends received

Amounts owing by associates
Represented by:
The Group’s share of net assets

2013
RM

2012
RM

40,004
93,473

40,000
35,304

133,477

75,304

3,346,256

600,000

3,479,733

675,304

133,477

75,304

The Group’s share of assets and liabilities of the associates are as follows:

GROUP
2013
RM

2012
RM

490,583
211,854
(17,800)
(551,160)

588,914
183,612
(13,920)
(683,302)

133,477

75,304

Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Net assets

GROUP

Revenue
Expenses including taxation
Net profit for the financial year

2013
RM

2012
RM

528,101
(469,932)

199,079
(163,775)

58,169

35,304

Amounts owing by associates represent advances for the associates’ working capital requirements which are interest
free, unsecured and not expected to be settled in the foreseeable future.

I-BERHAD
Annual Report 2013

92

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

10.

ASSOCIATES (continued)
On 19 July 2013, the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, I-City Properties Sdn. Bhd. had executed the Joint
Venture and Shareholders' Agreement (‘JVSA’) with CPN Real Estate Sdn. Bhd. and CPN Malls Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. to
incorporate a private limited company known as Central Plaza I-City Malls Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., in Malaysia which is
engaged in the development and management of a regional Retail Mall to be known as CentralPlaza at i-City, Section
7, Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan. The Group has subscribed for 40% of the issued and paid up ordinary share
capital of Central Plaza I-City Malls Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. for a cash consideration of RM 4.
In accordance with the terms of the JVSA, Central Plaza I-City Real Estate Sdn. Bhd. and the Company had also
executed a Land Sale and Purchase Agreement with Sumur Heights Sdn. Bhd., Sumurwang Industries Sdn. Bhd., Top
Capital Sdn. Bhd., Sumur Marketing Sdn. Bhd. and Sumurwang Development Sdn. Bhd. and The Peak @ KLCC Sdn.
Bhd., the vendor and beneficial owner for 11.12 acres (484,376 sq ft) of the 72 acres i-City site for the development of
the Retail Mall.
The details of the associates are as follows:

Name of company

Country of
incorporation

Equity interest
2013
2012
%
%

Principal activities

Held by I-R&D Sdn. Bhd.:
I-City Hotel Sdn. Bhd. *

Hotel operator

Malaysia

40

40

Malaysia

40

-

Investment holding

Malaysia

40

-

Property management

Malaysia

40

-

Property developers and
property owners

Held by I-City Properties Sdn. Bhd.:
Central Plaza I-City Malls Malaysia
Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiary: *
Central Plaza I-City Sdn. Bhd.
and its subsidiary: *
Central Plaza I-City Real
Estate Sdn. Bhd. *

*

11.

Not audited by BDO or BDO member firms.

OTHER INVESTMENTS
GROUP
Non-current
Available-for-sale financial assets
- Unquoted shares in Malaysia
Less: Impairment loss

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

191,000
(190,999)

191,000
(190,999)

-

-

1

1

-

-

Total non-current other investments
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

11.

OTHER INVESTMENTS (continued)
GROUP

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
-Quoted shares in Malaysia

38,556

38,556

38,556

38,556

Total other investments

38,557

38,557

38,556

38,556

Current

Information on the fair value hierarchy is disclosed in Note 34(c) to the financial statements.

12.

GOODWILL
GROUP

Cost
Less: Accumulated impairment loss
Balance as at 31 December

13.

2013
RM

2012
RM

4,333,279

4,333,279

(4,333,279)

(4,333,279)

-

-

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT COSTS
GROUP
2013
RM

2012
RM

Opening balance
Additions during the financial year

38,387,522
2,650,273

18,366,222
20,021,300

Closing balance

41,037,795

38,387,522

119,683,596
65,068,560
-

108,717,031
27,767,692
(16,801,127)

Closing balance

184,752,156

119,683,596

Total land and development costs

225,789,951

158,071,118

Note
Freehold land, at cost

Development costs
Opening balance
Additions during the financial year
Transfer to property, plant and equipment

7
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13.

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT COSTS (continued)
GROUP
2013
RM

2012
RM

Opening balance
Additions during the financial year

(101,442,960)
(62,674,397)

(84,906,224)
(16,536,736)

Closing balance

(164,117,357)

(101,442,960)

61,672,594

56,628,158

Less: Accumulated costs recognised as an
expense in statements of comprehensive income

Property development costs are analysed as follows:

GROUP

Freehold land, at cost
Development costs
Accumulated costs recognised as an
expense to statements of comprehensive income

2013
RM

2012
RM

41,037,795
184,752,156

38,387,522
119,683,596

(164,117,357)

(101,442,960)

61,672,594

56,628,158
Included in the property development costs of the Group are Directors’ remuneration capitalised during the financial
year of RM269,179 (2012: RM538,358).
Included in property development costs incurred during the financial year of the Group is interest expense of
RM9,731,643 (2012: RM8,106,906).
Freehold land
The freehold land under development is provided by Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd. (‘Sumurwang’), the immediate holding
company, pursuant to the Joint Venture (‘JV’) agreement dated 28 February 2006 to develop Phase 1 of i-City project.
As a Director of the Company has substantial interests in Sumurwang, the transaction arising from the JV agreement
is considered as a related party transaction. Hence, the transaction was approved by the shareholders of the
Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 24 May 2006 as well as by the relevant authorities.
On 4 June 2007, as part of a restructuring scheme, Sumurwang had disposed off the freehold land to The Peak @ KLCC
Sdn. Bhd. (‘The Peak @ KLCC’), which is a related party.
Pursuant to the above, on 10 February 2009, the Company entered into a new JV agreement with The Peak @ KLCC,
whereby the terms and conditions are similar to the original JV agreement entered into with Sumurwang on 28
February 2006 except for certain amendments made to the termination clauses.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had accrued an amount of RM35,564,791 (2012: RM32,914,518) for the
purchase consideration of the freehold land.
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14.

INVENTORIES
GROUP

At cost
Completed properties held for sale
Consumables

2013
RM

2012
RM

54,457,154
14,373

54,457,154
191,136

54,471,527

54,648,290

When the completed properties are sold, title deeds will be transferred directly from Sumurwang to the end
purchasers.

15.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
GROUP
Note
Trade receivables
Less : Impairment losses

Amounts owing by:
Subsidiaries
Related companies

a

b
b

Other receivables
Less: Impairment losses

Deposits
Loans and receivables
Prepayments
Accrued billings in respect of
property development

c

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

15,675,308
(599,841)

8,053,872
(595,788)

-

-

15,075,467

7,458,084

-

-

429,057

399,057

14,670,146
30,000

5,819,374
-

429,057

399,057

14,700,146

5,819,374

107,103
(3,000)

411,951
-

14,600
(3,000)

104,103

411,951

11,600

1,761,089

2,688,008

-

17,369,716

10,957,100

14,711,746

5,799,386

773,204

-

-

35,819,399

3,658,233

-

-

41,618,785

4,431,437

-

-

58,988,501

15,388,537

14,711,746
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5,907
5,907
5,825,281

5,825,281

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

15.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
(a)

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and the normal trade credit terms granted by the Group range
from 1 to 60 days (2012: 7 to 60 days). They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent
their fair values on initial recognition.

(b)

Non-trade amounts owing by subsidiaries and related companies represent advances and payments made
on behalf, which are unsecured, interest-free and payable upon demand in cash and cash equivalents.

(c)

Included in prepayments of the Group is advanced payments for property developments during the
financial year of RM5,072,323 (2012: Nil).

(d)

The currency exposure profile of receivables are as follows:

GROUP

Chinese Renminbi
(e)

2013
RM

2012
RM

5,809

8,162

The ageing analysis of trade receivables of the Group is as follows:

GROUP

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due, not impaired
1 to 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
More than 91 days
Past due and impaired

2013
RM

2012
RM

14,185,993

7,358,823

192,066
140,090
72,042
485,276

28,590
5,92512
64,734

889,474
599,841

99,261
595,788

15,675,308

8,053,872

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are substantially property purchasers.
The Group does not have any significant credit risk from its property development activities as its services
and products are predominantly rendered and sold to large number of property purchasers with financing
facilities from reputable financiers.
Trade receivables are monitored on an on-going basis via Group management reporting procedures. Credit
risks with respect to trade receivables are limited as the ownership and rights to the properties revert to the
Group in the event of default.
None of the trade receivables of the Group that are neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated
during the financial year.
Receivables that are past due but not impaired
At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables of the Group that are past due but not impaired are
unsecured in nature. They are creditworthy receivables with no recent history of default.

I-BERHAD
Annual Report 2013

97

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

15.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
(e)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables of the Group is as follows (continued):
Receivables that are past due and impaired
Trade receivables of the Group that are past due and impaired at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
Individually impaired
2013
2012
RM
RM

GROUP

599,841
(599,841)

Trade receivables, gross
Less : Impairment losses

595,788
(595,788)

-

-

Movements on the Group’s impairment losses of trade receivables are as follows:

GROUP
2013
RM

2012
RM

At 1 January
Charge for the financial year
Reversal due to recovery

595,788
4,053
-

560,814
38,291
(3,317)

At 31 December

599,841

595,788

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of each reporting period relate
to those receivables that exhibit significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These
receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.

16.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
GROUP
2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

2,233,802

1,386,742

54,813

37,534

a
b

1,340,441
3,055,376

2,164,947
12,004,073

2,048,789

2,092,871

b

477,125

555,858

7,106,744

16,111,620

Note
Cash and bank balances
Cash at bank held
under Housing
Development Accounts
Deposits with licensed banks
Deposits with licensed
financial institutions
As reported in statements
of financial position

COMPANY
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2,139,930

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

16.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)
GROUP

Less:
Fixed deposit pledged
with a licensed bank
As reported in statements of cash flows

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

(39,000)

(123,000)

(39,000)

7,067,744

15,988,620

2,064,602

2012
RM

2,139,930

(a)

Bank balances held under the Housing Development Accounts represents receipts from purchasers of
residential properties less payments as withdrawals provided under Section 7A of the Housing
Development (Control and Licensing) Amendment Act 2002 and Housing Development (Housing
Development Account) Regulation 1991 in connection to the Group’s property development projects.

(b)

Included in deposits with licensed banks and licensed financial institution of the Group, there is an amount
of RM39,000 (2012: RM123,000) pledged to a licensed bank as security bank guarantee.

(c)

In the previous financial year, there was an amount of RM1,554,500 being unutilised rights issue proceeds,
which were restricted for certain usage as prescribed by the relevant authorities. The unutilised rights
issue proceeds were fully utilised during the financial year.

(d)

The effective interest rates per annum as at the end of the financial year for the Group and the Company
are as follows:

GROUP

Cash at bank held under Housing
Development Accounts
Deposits with licensed banks
Deposits with financial institutions

COMPANY

2013
%

2012
%

2013
%

2012
%

1.75%
2.33%
2.79%

1.75%
3.00%
2.78%

2.80%
2.79%

3.00%
2.82%

(e)

The cash and bank balances are deposits held at call with banks and earn no interest.

(f )

Deposits with licensed banks and financial institutions have maturity periods range from 1 to 30 days
(2012: 1 to 30 days).
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16.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)
(g)

The currency exposure profile of cash and cash equivalents of the Group is as follows:

GROUP

Chinese Renminbi (‘RMB’)
United States Dollar (‘USD’)
Sterling Pound (‘GBP’)
Hong Kong Dollar (‘HKD’)
Brunei Dollar (‘BND’)
Taiwan Dollar (‘TWD’)
Korean Won (‘KRW’)

2013
RM

2012
RM

1,017,418
109
283
93
1,479
253
429

882,115
107
272
91
1,499
254
429

1,020,064

17.

884,767

SHARE CAPITAL
GROUP AND COMPANY
2013
Number
of shares

2013

2012

RM

2012
Number
of shares

Authorised:
At 1 January/31 December

200,000,000

200,000,000

200,000,000

200,000,000

Issued and fully paid :
At 1 January/31 December

114,486,356

114,486,356

114,486,356

114,486,356

RM

Ordinary shares of RM1.00 each:

The owners of the parent are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company and are entitled to
one vote per ordinary share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank pari passu with regard to the
Company’s residual assets.

18.

EXCHANGE TRANSLATION RESERVE
The exchange translation reserve is used to record foreign currency exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s
presentation currency. It is also used to record the exchange differences arising from monetary items which form part
of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, where the monetary item is denominated in either the functional
currency of the reporting entity or the foreign operation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

18.

EXCHANGE TRANSLATION RESERVE (continued)
GROUP

19.

2013
RM

2012
RM

At 1 January
Currency translation differences

17,234
121,218

62,938
(45,704)

At 31 December

138,452

17,234

TREASURY SHARES
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting held on 24 May 2006, the shareholders of
the Company renewed the authority given to the Directors to repurchase the Company’s own shares based on the
following terms:
(i)

The number of shares to be purchased and/or held shall not exceed 10% of its existing issued and paid up
share capital of the Company;

(ii)

The amount to be utilised for the repurchase of shares by the Company shall not exceed the total retained
earnings and share premium of the Company; and

(iii)

The Directors may retain the shares so purchased as treasury shares and may resell such treasury shares in
a manner they deem fit in accordance with the Companies Act, 1965 and the applicable guidelines of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad.

On 28 December 2012, a total of 7,599,055 treasury shares amounting to RM7,961,474 were distributed as share
dividend to the shareholders of the Company on the basis of one treasury share for every fourteen existing ordinary
shares held. Details of repurchase of shares in the previous financial years and balance as at the financial year end
were as follows:
Average
purchase price
RM

Number of
shares purchased

Total
consideration
RM

Balance as at 1 January 2006
January 2007
February 2007
March 2007
April 2007

0.95
1.04
1.07
1.39

5,997,900
73,100
43,200
324,700
1,646,100

5,717,918
69,340
45,020
346,927
2,291,390

Balance as at 31 December 2007
Less: Share dividend

1.05

8,085,000
(7,599,055)

8,470,595
(7,961,474)

485,945

509,121

As at 31 December 2013, the number of outstanding ordinary shares in issue after deducting the treasury shares is
114,000,411 (2012: 114,000,411).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

20.

DEFERRED TAX
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same taxation authority.
(a)

The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the statements of financial
position:

GROUP

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

Deferred tax liabilities

2,868,990

2,155,247

790,076

749,159

At 1 January
Charged/(Credited) to
statements of comprehensive
income (Note 26)
- property, plant and equipment
- investment properties
- unused tax losses

2,155,247

1,485,615

749,159

732,742

(231,215)
809,611
135,347

806,359
(136,727)

(64)
40,981
-

16,417
-

713,743

669,632

40,917

16,417

2,868,990

2,155,247

790,076

749,159

Subject to income tax
Deferred tax assets (before offsetting)
- unused tax losses
- property, plant and equipment

630,352

135,347
703,575

-

-

Offsetting

630,352

838,922

-

-

(630,352)

(838,922)

-

-

-

-

At 31 December

-

-

Deferred tax liabilities (before offsetting)
- investment properties
- property, plant and equipment
Offsetting

2,513,709
985,633
(630,352)

1,704,098
1,290,071
(838,922)

790,073
3
-

749,092
67
-

Deferred tax liabilities (after offsetting)

2,868,990

2,155,247

790,076

749,159

Deferred tax assets (after offsetting)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

20.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)
(b)

The amounts of temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets have been recognised in the
statements of financial position are as follows:

GROUP

Unused tax losses
Unabsorbed capital allowances

2013
RM

2012
RM

7,127,808
7,094,617

8,261,302
6,802,934

14,222,425

15,064,236

Deferred tax assets of certain subsidiaries have not been recognised in respect of these items as it is not
probable that taxable profits of the subsidiaries would be available against which the deductible
temporary differences could be utilised.
The deductible temporary differences do not expire under the current tax legislation.

21.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
GROUP

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

12,276,569
6,344,373

9,189,938
2,116,473

-

-

18,620,942

11,306,411

-

-

b

5,715,952
5,360,543
69,260,952

5,649,186
4,624,458
60,915,906

c

585,792

-

-

c
c

5,000,000
-

-

5,000,000
747,723

338,502

85,923,239

71,189,550

6,301,702

712,010

104,544,181

82,495,961

6,301,702

712,010

Note

2013
RM

2012
RM

Trade payables
Third parties
Retention sum

a

Other payables
Other payables
Deposits
Accruals
Amount owing to
related party
Amount owing to
immediate holding company
Amounts owing to subsidiaries
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26,324
92,743
434,912

89,357
284,151
-

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

21.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)
(a)

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and the normal trade credit terms granted to the Group range
from 1 to 90 days (2012: 7 to 90 days) from date of invoice.

(b)

Included in accruals of the Group are accruals for the purchase consideration of the freehold land and
development costs in respect of the i-City project, as follows:

GROUP

Purchase consideration of freehold land
Development costs

2013
RM

2012
RM

34,652,375
31,584,063

34,296,371
24,903,561

66,236,438

59,199,932

Included in purchase consideration of freehold land is compensation for deferred payment of the land in
the form of interest based on the Base Lending Rate of Malayan Banking Berhad.
(c)

Amounts owing to related party, immediate holding company and subsidiaries represent advances and
payments made on behalf, which are unsecured, interest-free and payable upon demand in cash and cash
equivalents.

(d)

The currency exposure profile of payables of the Group are as follows:

GROUP

Chinese Renminbi

22.

2013
RM

2012
RM

11,832

9,342

REVENUE
GROUP

Property development revenue
Rental income
Maintenance fee
Income from leisure activities
Services rendered
Others
Dividend income from subsidiaries

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

94,924,240
7,995,214
1,059,698
46,889,995
992,321
286,371
-

24,567,217
7,846,564
1,165,994
31,840,921
1,153,725
81,760
-

9,000,000

11,373,127

152,147,839

66,656,181

9,000,000

11,373,127
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

23.

COST OF SALES
GROUP

Property development costs
Lease rental
Maintenance costs
Leisure activities costs
Services rendered

24.

2013
RM

2012
RM

55,270,775
8,331,151
2,960,604
19,658,580
423,307

15,625,525
8,034,895
2,577,623
9,008,095
607,013

86,644,417

35,853,151

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
GROUP
Note

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

119,004
1,000

108,000
-

35,000
-

30,000
-

208,000
13,000

8,000
2,500

208,000
13,000

8,000
2,500

12,977,017
9,452,621
662,500

7,192,229
4,149,488
612,000

576
175,000

576
210,000

358,727

107,818

24,000

48,000

7,053

8,262
38,291

3,000

1,929,839
201,198

182,678

60,000

60,000

9,000,000

11,373,127

-

-

Profit before tax is arrived
at after charging:
Auditors’ remuneration:
- statutory
- current year
- under provision in prior year
- non-statutory
- current year
- under provision in prior years
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
7
Employee benefit costs
25(a)
Directors’ fees
Directors’ remuneration
other than fees
25(b)
Impairment losses on:
- other investments
- trade and other receivables
Write-off of property,
plant and equipment
7
Rental expense

8,262
-

And crediting :
Dividend income
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

48,940
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

24.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)
GROUP

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

296,855
415,252

1,800,000
537,660
5,959
369,436

72,146
265,252

1,800,000
59,146
5,959
219,436

And crediting (continued):
Gain on disposal of trademarks
Interest income
Realised gain on foreign exchange
Rental income
Reversal of impairment
losses on trade receivables

25.

-

3,317

-

-

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS
(a)

Employee benefit costs

GROUP

Wages, salaries and bonus
Other employee benefits

(b)

26.

2013
RM

2012
RM

8,677,912
774,709

3,836,158
313,330

9,452,621

4,149,488

The estimated monetary value of benefits-in-kind provided to the Directors of the Group by the way of
usage of the Group’s assets and the provision of other benefits during the financial year amounted to
RM358,727 (2012: RM107,818).

TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expense based
on taxable profit for the
financial year
Under/(Over)-provision in prior year

GROUP

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

8,090,401

928,869

209,588

(20,395)

88,293

(18,492)

8,299,989

908,474

88,293

520,045
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2013
RM

-

2012
RM

538,537

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

26.

TAX EXPENSE (continued)
GROUP

Deferred tax (Note 20):
Relating to origination and
reversal of temporary differences
(Over)/Under-provision in prior year

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

818,616
(104,873)

627,842
41,790

40,917
-

16,417
-

713,743

669,632

40,917

16,417

9,013,732

1,578,106

129,210

536,462

Malaysian income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% (2012: 25%) of the estimated taxable profits for the fiscal
year.
Tax expense of other taxation authorities, if any, are calculated at the rates prevailing in those respective jurisdictions.
The numerical reconciliation between the tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the
applicable tax rates of the Group and of the Company are as follows:

GROUP

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

Profit before tax

52,982,755

18,237,523

8,566,693

13,440,493

Tax at Malaysian statutory tax rate

13,245,689

4,559,381

2,141,673

3,360,123

1,210,234
(2,494,727)

852,509
(496,797)

247,310
(2,348,066)

14,135
(2,819,304)

Tax effects in respect of :
Non-allowable expenses
Non-taxable income
Tax exempt income under
pioneer status
Utilisation of previously unrecognised
capital allowances
Unused tax losses not recognised
Unabsorbed capital
allowances not recognised
Utilisation of previously unused tax losses

Under/(Over)-provision in prior year

(2,841,726)

-

-

-

(17,912)
85,952

(771,369)
243,736

-

-

90,833
(369,326)

46,930
(2,877,679)

-

-

8,909,017

1,556,711

40,917

554,954

104,715

21,395

88,293

(18,492)

9,013,732

1,578,106

129,210

536,462
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

26.

TAX EXPENSE (continued)
Tax savings of the Group are as follows:

GROUP

Arising from utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses
Arising from utilisation of previously unrecognised capital allowances

2013
RM

2012
RM

369,326
17,912

2,877,679
771,369

Subject to the agreement by the Inland Revenue Board, the Group and the Company had unutilised reinvestment
allowances amounting to approximately RM584,000 (2012: RM584,000), which are available to set off against future
taxable income.

27.

COMMITMENTS - OPERATING LEASE
(a)

The Group and the Company as lessee
The Group sold its developed properties to third parties under sale and leaseback arrangements in prior
years. The developed properties were leased back by the Group for a period of five years. The lease
arrangement has expired on November 2013 and was renewed to continue with the arrangement at a
re-negotiated rate. The future minimum lease commitments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

GROUP

Less than one year
Between one and five years

2013
RM

2012
RM

6,755,278
6,335,278

7,905,149
3,510,557

13,090,556

11,415,706

The payment of certain lease commitment is guaranteed by the Company (Note 29).
The Group and the Company had entered into non-cancellable operating lease arrangements for office lots
under operating leases for a term of one to three years, with an option to renew the leases. None of the
leases include contingent rentals. The future minimum lease commitments as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

GROUP AND COMPANY

Less than one year
Between one and five years
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2013
RM

2012
RM

18,000
-

52,000
18,000

18,000

70,000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

27.

COMMITMENTS - OPERATING LEASE (continued)
(b)

The Group and the Company as lessor
The Group and the Company had entered into non-cancellable lease arrangements on certain investment
properties for a term of one to two years. The future minimum lease receivables as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

GROUP

Less than one year
Between one and five years

28.

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

6,903,706
3,724,724

5,891,749
3,006,204

254,724
147,512

260,108
305,469

10,628,430

8,897,953

402,236

565,577

COMMITMENTS - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
GROUP

Capital expenditure in respect of purchase
of property, plant and equipment :
- Contracted but not provided for

29.

2013
RM

2012
RM

36,417,406

1,896,772

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
COMPANY

Bank guarantees given to third parties in respect
of services rendered to a subsidiary
Guarantee given to a third party for the payment of
operating lease rental payable by a subsidiary
(Note 27(a))

2013
RM

2012
RM

1,811,000

1,261,000

-

6,400,625

1,811,000

7,661,625

The Directors are of the view that the chances to call upon the corporate guarantees are not probable. The fair value
of such financial corporate guarantees is negligible as the probability of the Group defaulting on the payment is
remote.

I-BERHAD
Annual Report 2013

109

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

30.

EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE
(a)

Basic
Basic earnings per ordinary share for the financial year is calculated by dividing the profit for the financial
year attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, after taking into consideration of treasury shares held by the
Company.

GROUP

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue, net of treasury shares

2013
RM

2012
RM

43,968,494

16,818,019

114,000,411

114,000,411

38.57

14.75

Basic earnings per ordinary share (sen)

(b)

Diluted
The diluted earnings per ordinary share equals basic earnings per ordinary share as there are no dilutive
potential ordinary shares.

31.

DIVIDEND
GROUP AND COMPANY
2013

Interim dividend paid
First and final dividend paid

2012

Single tier
dividend
per share
sen

Amount of
single tier
dividend
RM

4.00

4,560,016
-

4.00

4,560,016

Single tier
dividend
per share
sen

Amount of
single tier
dividend
RM

1.00

1,064,014

1.00

1,064,014

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2012, an interim dividend of 4 sen per ordinary share, amounting
to RM4,560,016 has been declared by the Directors during the financial year and paid to entitled shareholders on 25
April 2013.
In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2013, a final single tier dividend of 6 sen per ordinary share,
amounting to RM6,840,025 has been approved by the Directors for shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting. The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this proposed dividend. This
dividend, if approved by shareholders, would be accounted for as an appropriation of retained earnings in the
financial year ending 31 December 2014.
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32.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(a)

Identities of related parties
Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control
the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice
versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to common control or common significant influence.
Related parties could be individuals or other parties.
The Company has controlling related party relationship with its holding companies and subsidiaries.
Related parties of the Group also include Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd. (the immediate holding company) and its
subsidiaries, key management personnel and companies in which key management personnel or their
close family members have control or significant influence.

(b)

The Group and the Company had the following transactions with related parties during the financial year:

GROUP

Subsidiaries:
Agency commission paid
Dividend received
Management fee receivable
Subsidiaries of the
immediate holding company:
Rental expense paid

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

-

-

2013
RM

2012
RM

296
(9,000,000)
-

422
(11,373,125)
(653,745)

60,000

60,000

60,000

60,000

Directors of the Company:
Sale of development properties

8,385,500

5,910,140

-

-

Key management
personnel of a subsidiary:
Sale of development properties

1,591,600

667,200

-

-

Related party:
Rental expense paid

1,849,197

1,089,276

-

-
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32.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)
(b)

The Group and the Company had the following transactions with related parties during the financial year
(continued):
The Group had also entered into a joint venture with the immediate holding company, the details are as
disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.
Balances with related parties at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in Notes 15 and 21 to the
financial statements.
These transactions have been entered into the normal course of business and have been established under
negotiated commercial terms.

(c)

Compensation of key management personnel
Key management personnel comprise the Executive Directors and key management personnel of the
Group, having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group
entities directly or indirectly.

GROUP

Short term employee benefits
Contributions to defined contribution plan

33.

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

1,132,900
157,506

1,106,400
151,776

199,000
-

258,000
-

1,290,406

1,258,176

199,000

258,000

OPERATING SEGMENTS
I-Berhad and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in property development, property investment, leisure and
Information and Communications Technology (‘ICT’) services.
I-Berhad has arrived at four reportable segments that are organised and managed separately according to the nature
of products and services, which requires different business and marketing strategies. The reportable segments are
summarised as follows:
(i)

Property development
Developing property and contracting for construction work.

(ii)

Property investment
Investment and property holdings.

(iii)

Leisure
Promotion, marketing and management of events, leisure and other tourism related activities.

(iv)

ICT services
Provision of managed network and telephony services.
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33.

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)
Other operating segments include investment holding, advertising agent, advertiser and advertising contractor.
The accounting policies of operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies.
The Group evaluates performance on the basis of profit or loss from operations before tax excluding share of profit
of associates.
Inter-segment revenue is priced along the same lines as sales to external customers and is eliminated in the
consolidated financial statements. These policies have been applied consistently throughout the current and
previous financial years.
Segment assets exclude tax assets and assets used primarily for corporate purposes.
Segment liabilities exclude tax liabilities. Details are provided in the reconciliations from segment assets and
liabilities to the position of the Group.
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33.

3,252,596

(878,440)

(5,108,143)

Additions to non-current assets other than
financial instruments and deferred tax assets

-

-

7,648,461

12,505,635
-

9,016,827

30,090,562

-

(246,635)

(932,877)

Other material non-cash items:
- Fair value gain on investment properties
- Write-off of property, plant and equipment

Tax expense

Share of profits of associates

Segment profit/(loss)

Depreciation

9,915

34,491

9,054,912

94,924,240

Revenue from external customers

Interest income

9,621,461
(566,549)

96,264,118
(1,339,878)

Property
investment
RM

Revenue
Total revenue
Inter-segment revenue

2013

Property
development
RM

13,157,486

1,908,265

(2,899,635)

58,169

14,794,021

(11,538,746)

152,504

46,889,994

46,889,994
-

Leisure
RM

6,680

1,408

(244)

-

(152,704)

(105,764)

13,642

992,322

1,129,647
(137,325)

ICT
services
RM

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets and liabilities and other information by operating segments:

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

-

490,000
20,166

(127,270)

-

(824,120)

(152,995)

86,303

286,371

9,578,972
(9,292,601)

Others
RM

24,065,223

12,995,635
1,929,839

(9,013,732)

58,169

52,924,586

(12,977,017)

296,855

152,147,839

163,484,192
(11,336,353)

Total
RM
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33.

9,587,785
(575,227)
9,012,558

24,567,217

Revenue from external customers

Property
investment
RM

8,664,680
31,016

135,925,485
59,433

25,855,309
(1,288,092)

Property
development
RM

86,698,661
502,744

133,587,927
-

Property
investment
RM

Revenue
Total revenue
Inter-segment revenue

2012

Segment liabilities
Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Segment assets
Current tax assets
Associates

2013

Property
development
RM

31,840,921

31,840,921
-

Leisure
RM

2,144,391
157,229

35,410,785
39,022

Leisure
RM

1,153,725

1,295,545
(141,820)

ICT
services
RM

236,039
-

617,472
492

ICT
services
RM

81,760

12,008,008
(11,926,248)

Others
RM

6,800,410
-

15,129,301
735,280

Others
RM

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets and liabilities and other information by operating segments (continued):

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

66,656,181

80,587,568
(13,931,387)

Total
RM

108,104,160

104,544,181
690,989
2,868,990

324,984,930

320,670,970
834,227
3,479,733

Total
RM
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33.

68,930,805
-

Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

534,271

Current tax assets
Associate

Segment liabilities

92,828,906

167,669

-

(16,602)

-

4,702,565

(695,419)

339,609

Segment assets

Additions to non-current assets
other than financial instruments
and deferred tax assets

Other material non-cash item:
- Gain on disposal of trademarks

Tax expense

Share of profit of an associate

Segment profit/(loss)

Depreciation

Interest income

2012

Property
development
RM

45,219
-

9,336,533

-

119,527,258

2,307,313

-

(200,434)

-

(2,763,627)

(158,623)

95,919

Property
investment
RM

271,989
-

2,501,562

36,048

36,773,440

18,485,712

-

(1,310,198)

35,304

16,039,611

(5,200,259)

-

Leisure
RM

-

470,350

-

919,092

6,172

-

(5,730)

-

(947,518)

(977,956)

14,476

ICT
services
RM

-

1,256,711

563,643

10,460,999

-

1,800,000

(45,142)

-

1,171,188

(159,972)

87,656

Others
RM

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets and liabilities and other information by operating segments (continued):

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

84,968,416

317,208
2,155,247

82,495,961

262,318,961

1,133,962
675,304

260,509,695

20,966,866

1,800,000

(1,578,106)

35,304

18,202,219

(7,192,229)

537,660

Total
RM

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

33.

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)
No segment information by geographical has been presented as the Group operates predominantly in Malaysia.

34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a)

Financial instruments
Categories of financial instruments

GROUP

Fair value
through
profit or loss
RM

Availablefor-sale
RM

Total
RM

-

38,556

1

38,557

17,369,716

-

-

17,369,716

7,076,054

-

-

7,076,054

24,445,770

38,556

Loans and
receivables
RM

31 December 2013
Financial assets
Other investments
Trade and other
receivables excluding
prepayments and
accrued billings in
respect of property
development
Cash and cash
equivalents (excluding
cash in hand)

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables excluding statutory liabilities
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1

24,484,327

Other
financial
liabilities
RM

Total
RM

104,544,181

104,544,181

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(a)

Financial instruments (continued)
Categories of financial instruments (continued)

GROUP

Loans and
receivables
RM

Fair value
through
profit or loss
RM

Availablefor-sale
RM

Total
RM

38,556

1

38,557

31 December 2012
Financial assets
Other investments
Trade and other
receivables excluding
prepayments and
accrued billings in
respect of property
development
Cash and cash
equivalents (excluding
cash in hand)

-

10,957,100

-

-

10,957,100

16,070,820

-

-

16,070,820

27,027,920

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables excluding statutory liabilities
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38,556

1

27,066,477

Other
financial
liabilities
RM

Total
RM

82,495,961

82,495,961

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(a)

Financial instruments (continued)
Categories of financial instruments (continued)

Loans and
receivables

Fair value
through profit or loss

Total

RM

RM

RM

38,556

38,556

COMPANY
31 December 2013
Financial assets
Other investments
Trade and other
receivables excluding
prepayments and
accrued billings in
respect of property development
(including intercompany balances)
Cash and cash equivalents
(excluding cash in hand)

-

14,711,746

-

14,711,746

2,103,102

-

2,103,102

16,814,848

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables excluding statutory
liabilities (including intercompany balances)
Loans and
receivables
RM

38,556

16,853,404

Other
financial liabilities
RM

Total
RM

6,301,702

6,301,702

Fair value
through profit or loss
RM

Total
RM

38,556

38,556

31 December 2012
Financial assets
Other investments
Trade and other
receivables excluding
prepayments and
accrued billings in
respect of property development
(including intercompany balances)
Cash and cash equivalents
(excluding cash in hand)

-

5,825,281

-

5,825,281

2,139,430

-

2,139,430

7,964,711
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38,556

8,003,267

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(a)

Financial instruments (continued)
Categories of financial instruments (continued)

COMPANY

Other
financial liabilities
RM

Total
RM

712,010

712,010

31 December 2012
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables excluding statutory
liabilities (including intercompany balances)

(b)

Determination of fair value
Methods and assumptions used to estimate fair value
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:
(i)

Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are a
reasonable approximation of fair value.
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities, which are classified as current assets and
current liabilities at the end of the reporting period, are reasonable approximation of fair value
due to their short term nature.

(ii)

Quoted shares
The fair value of quoted investments in Malaysia is determined by reference to the exchange
quoted market bid prices at the close of the business on the end of the reporting period.

(c)

Fair value hierarchy
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable.
Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices).
Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
As at 31 December 2013, the following financial assets carried at fair value on the statements of financial
position are as follows:

GROUP

Total
RM

Level 1
RM

Level 2
RM

38,556

38,556

-

Level 3
RM

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
- Quoted shares
Available-for-sale financial assets
- Unquoted shares

1

COMPANY
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
- Quoted shares

-

-

1

Total
RM

Level 1
RM

Level 2
RM

38,556

38,556

-

-

Level 3
RM

-

As at 31 December 2012, the following financial assets carried at fair value on the statements of financial
position are as follows:

GROUP

Total
RM

Level 1
RM

38,556

38,556

Level 2
RM

Level 3
RM

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
- Quoted shares
Available-for-sale financial assets
- Unquoted shares

1

COMPANY
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
- Quoted shares

-

-

-

1

-

Total
RM

Level 1
RM

Level 2
RM

38,556

38,556

-

Level 3
RM

-

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements during the financial year
ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The financial risk management objective of the Group is to optimise value creation for shareholders whilst minimising
the potential adverse impact arising from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange and interest rates and the
unpredictability of the financial markets.
The Group operates within an established risk management framework and clearly defined guidelines that are
regularly reviewed by the Board of Directors and does not trade in derivative financial instruments. Financial risk
management is carried out through risk review programmes, internal control systems, insurance programmes and
adherence to the Group financial risk management policies. The Group is exposed mainly to interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk, liquidity and cash flow risk, credit risk and market risk. Information on the management of the related
exposures is detailed below.
(i)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the financial instrument of the Group
and the Company would fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The Group’s interest bearing assets are primarily short-term bank deposits with financial institutions. The
interest rates on these deposits are monitored closely to ensure that they are maintained at favourable
rates. The Group considers the risk of significant changes to interest rates on deposits to be unlikely.

(ii)

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument would
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk in respect of its overseas investments.
The Group also hold cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies for working capital
purposes. At the end of the reporting period, such foreign currency balances amounted to RM1,020,064
(2012: RM884,767).
Foreign exchange exposures in transactional currencies other than functional currencies of the operating
entities are not significant.
Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit after tax to a reasonably possible
change in the RMB exchange rates against the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, with
all other variables held constant. The sensitivity analysis includes only significant outstanding balances
denominated in foreign currencies, of which the fluctuations in foreign exchange rates would have an
impact on statements of comprehensive income.

GROUP
2013
RM

2012
RM

91,026

19,848

(91,026)

(19,848)

Profit after tax
RMB/RM -

strengthen by 12% (2012: 3%)
weaken by 12% (2012: 3%)
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(iii)

Liquidity and cash flow risk
Liquidity risk arises from the Group’s and the Company’s management of working capital. It is the risk that
the Group and the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations when due.
The Group actively manages its debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability of funding
so as to ensure that all operating, investing and financing needs are met. In liquidity risk management
strategy, the Group measures and forecasts its cash commitments and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate to finance the Group’s activities.
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the liabilities of the Group and the Company at the end
of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

On demand
or within
one year
RM

One to five
years
RM

100,867,539

3,676,642

-

104,544,181

-

-

6,301,702

-

82,495,961

-

712,010

Over five
years
RM

Total
RM

As at 31 December 2013
Group
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Company
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

6,301,702

As at 31 December 2012
Group
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

81,518,036

977,925

Company
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

(iv)

712,010

-

Credit risk
Credit risk, which is the risk of counter parties defaulting, is controlled by the application of credit
approvals, credit limits and monitoring procedures. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount and strictly limiting the Group’s associations to parties with high
credit worthiness. Trade receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure that the Group is
exposed to minimal credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(iv)

Credit risk (continued)
The primary exposure of the Group and of the Company to credit risk arise through trade and other
receivables. The exposure to credit risk is monitored by management on an ongoing basis and is
minimised by strictly limiting the Group’s and the Company’s association to business partners with high
creditworthiness.
Other financial assets of the Group and the Company with exposure to credit risk include cash and fixed
deposits, which are placed with banks and financial institutions with good standing.
Exposure to credit risk
At the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure of the Group and of the Company to credit risk
is represented by the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised on the statements of
financial position.
Credit risk concentration profile
At the end of the reporting period, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk for the Group and
the Company other than amounts owing by associates to the Group of RM3,346,256 (2012: RM600,000)
and amounts owing by subsidiaries to the Company of RM14,670,146 (2012: RM5,819,374).
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Information regarding trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is disclosed in
Note 15 to the financial statements. Cash and bank balances and deposits with banks and other financial
institutions that are neither past due nor impaired are placed with or entered into with reputable financial
institutions.
Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 15 to the
financial statements.

(v)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments would
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than interest or exchange rates).
The Group is not exposed to significant equity price risks arising from marketable securities held by the
Group. The Group does not actively trade these investments. However, to manage its price risk arising from
these investments, the Group closely monitors the effects of fluctuation in equity prices and manages its
portfolio within the limit set by the Board of Directors.
There has been no change to the exposure of the Group to market risks or the manner in which these risks
are managed and measured.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(vi)

Capital management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that entities of the Group would be
able to continue as going concerns while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the capital structure. The overall strategy of the Group remains unchanged from that in the previous
financial year.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in response to changes in economic
conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes during the financial years ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December
2012.
Pursuant to the requirements of Practice Note No. 17/2005 of the Bursa Malaysia Securities, the Group is
required to maintain a consolidated shareholders’ equity equal to or not less than the twenty-five percent
(25%) of the issued and paid-up capital (excluding treasury shares) and such shareholders’ equity is not less
than RM40.0 million. The Company has complied with this requirement for the financial year ended 31
December 2013.
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

36.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
(a)

On 19 July 2013, the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, I-City Properties Sdn. Bhd. (‘ICP’) had
executed the Joint Venture and Shareholders' Agreement (‘JVSA’) with CPN Real Estate Sdn. Bhd. (‘CPN
Real Estate’), CPN Malls Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. (‘CPN Malls’), Central Plaza I-City Malls Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.,
Central Plaza I-City Sdn. Bhd. and Central Plaza I-City Real Estate Sdn. Bhd. (‘Central Plaza I-City Real Estate’)
for the development and management of a regional Retail Mall to be known as CentralPlaza at i-City,
Section 7, Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan.
The corporate structure of the joint venture with Central Pattana Public Company Limited of Thailand
(‘CPN’) is as follows:
(i)

The Company through ICP holds a 40% stake in a newly incorporated joint venture company,
Central Plaza I-City Malls Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. (‘JVCo’) thereby making it an associated company of
the Group. CPN through its subsidiaries, CPN Real Estate and CPN Malls holds 60% stake in the
JVCo.

(ii)

A newly incorporated Central Plaza I-City Sdn. Bhd., a wholly owned subsidiary of Central Plaza
I-City Malls Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. would be the Mall Manager.

(iii)

A newly incorporated Central Plaza I-City Real Estate, a wholly owned subsidiary of Central Plaza
I-City Sdn. Bhd., would develop and own the Mall.
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36.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR (continued)
(a)

In accordance with the terms of the JVSA, Central Plaza I-City Real Estate and the Company had also
executed a Land Sale and Purchase Agreement with Sumur Heights Sdn. Bhd., Sumurwang Industries Sdn.
Bhd., Top Capital Sdn. Bhd., Sumur Marketing Sdn. Bhd. and Sumurwang Development Sdn. Bhd. and The
Peak @ KLCC Sdn. Bhd., the vendor and beneficial owner for a piece of freehold land which forms part of the
land held under Geran No. 311885, Lot No. 16965 and part of Geran No. 311886, Lot No.16966 of Seksyen 7,
Bandar Shah Alam, District of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan (‘Mall Land’) measuring approximately
11.12 acres (484,376 sq ft) for a purchase consideration of RM72.66 million for the development of the Retail
Mall (‘Proposed Mall Land Acquisition’).

(b)

On 24 October 2013, the Company has announced the proposed acquisition by I-Marcom Sdn. Bhd.
(‘I-Marcom’), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, of a piece of freehold land held under Geran No.
26180, Lot No. 242, Seksyen 63, Town and District of Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur
measuring approximately 1.05 acres (45,764 sq ft) located along Jalan Changkat Kia Peng from Sumuracres
Sdn. Bhd. (‘the Vendor’) for a purchase consideration of RM132.00 million to be settled by way of allotment
and issuance of the Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock (‘RCULS’) to the Vendor (‘Proposed Kia
Peng Land Acquisition’).
On even date, I-Marcom had entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with the Vendor in
relation to the Proposed Kia Peng Land Acquisition.
The Proposal has been approved by shareholder of I-Marcom, and is now pending approvals from the
shareholders of the Company, Securities Commission Malaysia, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (‘Bursa
Securities’) and other relevant authorities.

(c)

On 18 November 2013, the Company has incorporated two new wholly-owned subsidiaries namely City
Centrepoint Sdn. Bhd. and World Citypoint Sdn. Bhd. with each having an authorised capital of RM400,000
divided into 400,000 ordinary shares of RM1 each and a paid-up capital of RM2 divided into 2 ordinary
shares of RM1 each. Both of the subsidiaries have not commenced business. The intended principal
activities of the new subsidiaries are to act as developers, land and property owners.

(d)

On 20 December 2013, the Company has announced the following proposals to Bursa Securities:
(i)

proposed share split involving the subdivision of every one (1) existing ordinary share of RM1.00
each in I-Berhad into two (2) ordinary shares of RM0.50 each in I-Berhad (‘Proposed Share Split’);

(ii)

proposed renounceable rights issue of new ordinary shares in I-Berhad together with
freedetachable warrants to raise gross proceeds of up to RM200.00 million (‘Proposed Rights Issue
with Warrants’);

(iii)

proposed bonus issue of new ordinary shares in I-Berhad (‘Bonus Share(s)’) on the basis of one (1)
Bonus Share for every five (5) ordinary shares held (‘Proposed Bonus Issue’);
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36.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR (continued)
(d)

On 20 December 2013, the Company has announced the following proposals to Bursa Securities (continued):

(iv)

proposed acquisition by I-City Properties Sdn. Bhd. (‘I-City Properties’), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, of a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 311884, Lot No. 16964, Seksyen
7, Bandar Shah Alam, District of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan measuring approximately
12.13 acres from The Peak @ KLCC Sdn. Bhd. (‘The Peak @ KLCC’) for a purchase consideration of
RM241.30 million to be settled by a combination of irredeemable convertible unsecured loan
stocks (‘ICULS’) and RCULS issued by I-Berhad (‘Proposed SOHO Land Acquisition’);

(v)

proposed acquisition by City Centrepoint Sdn. Bhd. (‘City Centrepoint’), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, of a piece of freehold land which currently forms part of the land held
under Geran No. 311886, Lot No.16966, Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam, District of Petaling, State of
Selangor Darul Ehsan measuring approximately 7.45 acres from The Peak @ KLCC for a purchase
consideration of RM129.00 million to be settled by a combination of ICULS and RCULS issued by
I-Berhad (‘Proposed Tower Land Acquisition’);

(vi)

proposed renounceable restricted offer for sale of up to 50% of up to RM301.30 million five (5)-year
2% stepping up to 3% ICULS at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each to be issued pursuant to
the Proposed SOHO Land Acquisition and/or the Proposed Tower Land Acquisition to the minority
shareholders of I-Berhad (‘Proposed OFS’);

(vii)

proposed increase in authorised share capital of I-Berhad from RM200,000,000 comprising
200,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each to RM1,000,000,000 (‘Proposed Increase in Authorised
Share Capital’);

(viii)

proposed amendment to the memorandum of association of I-Berhad (‘Proposed Amendment’);
and

(ix)

proposed establishment of a long term incentive plan of up to 10% of the issued and paid-up
share capital of the Company for eligible employees and eligible Directors of I-Berhad and its
subsidiaries (‘Proposed LTIP’).

On even date, I-City Properties had entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with The Peak @
KLCC in relation to the Proposed SOHO Land Acquisition.
In addition, City Centrepoint had entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with The Peak @
KLCC in relation to the Proposed Tower Land Acquisition.
The Proposed SOHO Land Acquisition and Proposed Tower Land Acquisition have been approved by
shareholder of i-City Properties and City Centrepoint, and are now pending approvals from the shareholders
of the Company, Securities Commission Malaysia, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (‘Bursa Securities’) and
other relevant authorities.
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37.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS TO THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
(a)

On 29 January 2014, the Red Carpet in I-City was partially destroyed by fire. There is no significant financial
implication to the Group as a result of the incident.

(b)

On 6 February 2014, the Company has announced the proposed ratification of the Joint Venture Agreement
dated 10 February 2009 entered into between the Company and The Peak @ KLCC Sdn. Bhd. in place of the
Joint Venture Agreement dated 28 February 2006 entered into between the Company and Sumurwang Sdn.
Bhd. for the development of a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 27449, Lot No. 4598, Mukim of
Bukit Raja, District of Petaling, Selangor Darul Ehsan measuring approximately 72 acres, designated as the
‘i-City Project’ (‘Proposed Ratification’).

(c)

On 1 April 2014, the Company has announced the proposed arrangement between the Company and The
Peak @ KLCC in relation to the treatment of the purchase consideration from the Proposed Mall Land
Acquisition (‘Proposed Arrangement’).
On even date, the Company and The Peak @ KLCC had entered into a termination and payment agreement
to formalize the Proposed Arrangement.
In addition, the Company has announced the full details of the Proposed Ratification resulting from the finalisation of
the various appointments of advisers and the conclusions of the independent valuations on the affected properties.
The Proposed Arrangement and Proposed Ratification are now pending approvals from the shareholders of
the Company, Securities Commission Malaysia, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (‘Bursa Securities’) and
other relevant authorities.

(d)

On 1 April 2014, its wholly-owned subsidiary, I-R&D Sdn. Bhd. has incorporated a new wholly-owned subsidiary namely I-City Travel Sdn. Bhd. with an authorised capital of RM400,000 divided into 400,000 ordinary
shares of RM1 each and a paid-up capital of RM2 divided into 2 ordinary shares of RM1 each. The intended
principal activity of the new subsidiary is to provide transportation services.
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38.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ON REALISED AND UNREALISED LOSSES OR PROFITS
The retained earnings as at the end of the reporting period may be analysed as follows:

GROUP

COMPANY

2013
RM

2012
RM

2013
RM

2012
RM

21,465,205
17,687,193

(6,504,403)
5,405,301

9,117,443
1,829,060

5,689,059
1,379,977

39,152,398

(1,099,102)

10,946,503

7,069,036

93,473

35,304

39,245,871

(1,063,798)

1,901,558

2,802,749

41,147,429

1,738,951

Total retained earnings/
(accumulated losses) of the
Company and its subsidiaries:
- Realised
- Unrealised

Total share of retained earnings
from associates:
- Realised

Consolidation adjustments
Total group/company retained
earnings as per consolidated
accounts

I-BERHAD
Annual Report 2013

129

10,946,503
-

10,946,503

7,069,036
-

7,069,036

LIST OF PROPERTIES HELD
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013
I-Berhad
Approximate
Age of the Buildings

Net Book Value
as at 31 December 2013

4.08 acres

Between 44 to
45 years

2,930,000*

Leasehold for a term
of 99 years expiring
on 10 July 2068
-Unexpired term is
55 years

2.00 acres

38 years

1,480,000*

Leasehold for a term
of 99 years expiring
on 10 January 2076
-Unexpired term is
63 years

2.76 acres

Between 35 to
37 years

2,180,000*

Vacant
factory land

Leasehold for a term
of 99 years expiring
on 23 February 2080
-Unexpired term is
67 years

1.79 acres

N/A

810,000*

Lot 5658, P.N. 119473,
Mukim of Asam Kumbang,
Kamunting Industrial Estate,
Taiping, Perak Darul Ridzuan

Factory
& warehouse

Leasehold for a term
of 99 years expiring
on 29 January 2072
- Unexpired term is
59 years

3.98 acres

40 years

2,400,000*

Lot 6704, P.N. 104498,
Mukim of Asam Kumbang,
Kamunting Industrial Estate,
Taiping, Perak Darul Ridzuan

Vacant
factory land

Leasehold for a term
of 99 years expiring
on 4 September 2074
- Unexpired term is
61 years

3.75 acres

N/A

1,630,000*

Part of Lot 16971 (Previously
held under Lot 4598),
Mukim Bukit Raja, Daerah
Petaling, i-City, 40000 Shah
Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan

Surface
Car Park

Freehold

1.42 acres

4 years

4,725,000*

Block M, No. 6, Persiaran
Multimedia, i-City
40000 Shah Alam, Selangor
Darul Ehsan

Data Centre

Freehold

0.55 acres

4 years

27,200,000*

Part of Lot 16971 (Previously
held under Lot 4598),
Mukim Bukit Raja, Daerah
Petaling, i-City, 40000 Shah
Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan

9-storey
Car Park

Freehold

0.79 acres

4 years

16,980,000*

Part of Lot 16971 (Previously
held under Lot 4598), Mukim
Bukit Raja, Daerah Petaling,
i-City, 40000 Shah Alam,
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Basement
Car Park

Freehold

1.90 acres

4 years

10,740,000*

Location

Description

Tenure

Size

Lot 4799, Q.T. (R) L & M 2/69,
Mukim of Asam Kumbang,
Kamunting Industrial Estate,
Taiping, Perak Darul Ridzuan

Factory
& warehouse

Leasehold for a term
of 99 years expiring
on 10 July 2068
-Unexpired term is
55 years

Lot 5813, Q.T. (R) L & M 3/69,
Mukim of Asam Kumbang,
Kamunting Industrial Estate,
Taiping, Perak Darul Ridzuan

Factory
& warehouse

Lot 6675, H.S. (D) L & M 2/77,
Mukim of Asam Kumbang,
Kamunting Industrial Estate,
Taiping, Perak Darul Ridzuan

Factory
& warehouse

Lot 11472, P.N. 67136
(Previously held under Lot
779, H.S. (D) L & M 15/81)
Mukim of Asam Kumbang,
Kamunting Industrial Estate,
Taiping, Perak Darul Ridzuan

I-R&D Sdn Bhd

*Based on valuation as at 31 December 2013
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 30 APRIL 2014

AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL

:

RM200,000,000

PAID-UP SHARE CAPITAL

:

RM114,486,356*

CLASS OF SHARE

:

Ordinary share of RM1.00 each

VOTING RIGHTS

:

1 vote per shareholder on a show of hands
1 vote per ordinary share on a poll

* Inclusive of 485,945 treasury shares.

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
No. of
Shareholders

% of
Shareholders

No. of Shares
held

% of Issued
Shares

Less than 100
100 to 1,000
1,001 to 10,000
10,001 to 100,000
100,001 to less than 5% of
issued shares #
5% and above of issued
shares

472
235
1,126
346
39

21.25
10.58
50.70
15.58
1.76

12,578
120,390
4,550,441
9,604,993
16,571,559

0.01
0.11
3.99
8.42
14.54

3

0.13

83,140,450

72.93

Total

2,221

100.00

114,000,411

100.00

Size of Shareholdings

Note:# Excluding a total of 485,945 treasury shares.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS PER REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
No. of Ordinary Shares of RM1.00 each held

Name of Substantial
Shareholders

1.
2.
3.

Sumurwang Sdn Bhd
Sumur Ventures Sdn Bhd
Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong

Direct

% of
Issued Shares #

66,790,441
16,350,009
457,500

58.59
14.34
0.40

Indirect
2,142,857*
68,933,298**
85,283,307***

% of
Issued Shares #
1.88
60.47
74.81

Notes:* Deemed interest through its shareholding in Sumurwang Capital Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act, 1965.
**

Deemed interest through its shareholding in Sumurwang Sdn Bhd and Sumurwang Capital Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A(4) of
the Companies Act, 1965.

*** Deemed interest through his shareholding in Sumurwang Sdn Bhd, Sumur Ventures Sdn Bhd and Sumurwang Capital Sdn Bhd
by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act, 1965.
#

Excluding a total of 485,945 treasury shares.
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THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
As at 30 April 2014

No. of Shares Held #

% of Issued Shares

Sumurwang Sdn Bhd

60,253,870

52.85

2.

Sumur Ventures Sdn Bhd

16,350,009

14.34

3.

Sumurwang Sdn Bhd

6,536,571

5.73

4.

Tay Siew Lian

4,095,035

3.59

5.

Sumurwang Capital Sdn Bhd

2,142,857

1.88

6.

TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Liew Yam Fee

1,570,000

1.38

7.

Lim Khuan Eng

1,105,000

0.97

8.

Onn Kok Puay (Weng Guopei)

646,860

0.57

9.

Lim Kim Hong

457,500

0.40

10.

Liew Yam Fee

430,000

0.38

11.

Lee Teck Leong

425,200

0.37

12.

Wong Wai Kuan

417,440

0.37

13.

TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Lim Chye

410,000

0.36

14.

Lee Teck Leong

382,500

0.34

15.

Tey Siew Thuan

332,142

0.29

16.

Foo Look Yu

313,000

0.27

17.

Tan Ah Chai @ Tan Lay Hock

301,821

0.26

18.

Cheow Chew Khoon @ Teoh Chew Khoon

290,000

0.25

19.

Tang Soke Cheng

224,385

0.20

20.

Saw Joo See

201,071

0.18

21.

Chiang Choon Fatt

182,000

0.16

22.

TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Ong Siew King

179,257

0.16

23.

Kooi Soo La

160,810

0.14

24.

Ong Chu Meng

148,154

0.13

25.

Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Go Moo Tong
(8028542)

142,500

0.12

26.

TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Sem See Yee

139,964

0.12

27.

Chung Kok Soo (Chin Kok Siew)

139,142

0.12

28.

Lim Peng Huat

135,000

0.12

29.

Chai Huey Yng

134,000

0.12

30.

Public Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account For Koay Ean Chim
(E-IMO)

133,000

0.12

98,379,088

86.29

No

Name of Shareholders

1.

Total
Note:-

# Excluding a total of 485,945 treasury shares.
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN THE COMPANY
AND ITS RELATED CORPORATIONS
AS AT 30 APRIL 2014

Other than as disclosed below, none of the other Directors of the Company has any interest in the shares of the Company or its
related corporations as at 30 April 2014:-

No. of shares held

Name

Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong
Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan
Madam Ong Poh Ling

Direct

% of
Issued Shares #

Indirect

% of
Issued Shares #

457,500
332,142
15,356

0.40
0.29
0.01

85,283,307*
-

74.81
-

Notes:*
#

Deemed interest through Sumurwang Sdn Bhd, Sumur Ventures Sdn Bhd and Sumurwang Capital Sdn Bhd.
Excluding a total of 485,945 treasury shares.

By virtue of his interest in Sumur Ventures Sdn Bhd, Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong is deemed interested in the shares of the
Company and all its subsidiaries to the extent Sumur Ventures Sdn Bhd has an interest.
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I-Berhad

(7029-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 47th Annual General Meeting of I-Berhad will be held at i-Gallery, Persiaran
Multimedia, i-City, 40000 Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan on Monday, 30 June 2014 at 10.00 a.m. for the following
purposes:AGENDA
AS ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.

To receive the audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31
December 2013 together with the Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports thereon.

2.

To approve a final single tier dividend of 6% in respect of the year ended
31 December 2013.

(Resolution 1)

To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM175,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2013.

(Resolution 2)

To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Article 109 of the
Company’s Articles of Association:
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Eu Hong Chew
(i)
(ii)
Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan

(Resolution 3)
(Resolution 4)

To re-elect Madam Goh Yeang Kheng who retires pursuant to Article 96 of
the Company’s Articles of Association.

(Resolution 5)

To re-appoint Messrs. BDO, as Auditors of the Company and to authorise
the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

(Resolution 6)

3.
4.

5.
6.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS
7.

To consider, and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolution:AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTION 132D OF THE
COMPANIES ACT, 1965
“That pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965, the Directors
be and are hereby authorised to issue shares in the Company at any time
until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting and upon such
terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may, in their
discretion, deem fit provided that the aggregate number of shares issued
pursuant to this resolution does not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being, subject always to the
approvals of all the relevant regulatory authorities.”

8.

To transact any other business of which due notice shall have been
received.

By Order of the Board
TOO YET LAN (MAICSA No. 0817992)
Company Secretary
Shah Alam
6 June 2014
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(Resolution 7)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (cont’d)

Notes:
1.

In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on
23 June 2014 [General Meeting Record of Depositors] shall be entitled to attend and vote at this 47th
AGM.

2.

A member entitled to attend, speak and vote at the general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to
attend, speak and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company and the provisions
of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not apply to the Company.

3.

Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the
Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no
limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each
omnibus account it holds.

4.

Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the
proportions of his holdings to be represented by each proxy.

5.

The Form of Proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his attorney duly authorised
in writing or if such appointer is a corporation, under its common seal or the hand of its attorney.

6.

All proxy forms duly executed should be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at D-1-4, Jalan
Multimedia 7/AJ, CityPark, i-City, 40000 Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan not less than 48 hours before
the time set for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

EXPLANATORY NOTES ON SPECIAL BUSINESS
RESOLUTION 7
The Company has not issued any new shares to date pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965
under the general authority which was approved at the 46th Annual General Meeting held on 30 April 2013 and
which will lapse upon the conclusion of the forthcoming 47th Annual General Meeting to be held on 30 June
2014. A renewal of this authority is being sought at the 47th Annual General Meeting under proposed
Resolution 7.
Resolution 7 proposed under Agenda 7, if passed, will give the Directors of the Company authority to issue and
allot shares as the Directors in their discretion consider to be in the best interest of the Company, without
having to convene a general meeting in the event of any strategic opportunities to broaden the operating base
and earnings potential of the Company which may involve the issuance of new shares. Any delay and cost
involved in convening a general meeting to approve such issuance of shares would thus be avoided. This
authority will expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.
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STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

1.

Further Details of Directors Who Are Standing For Re-Election
Further details of the Directors, Y. Bhg. Dato’ Eu Hong Chew, Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan and
Madam Goh Yeang Kheng who are standing for re-election are set out in the Profile of Directors
section appearing in this Annual Report. Save for Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan, Y. Bhg. Dato’ Eu
Hong Chew and Madam Goh Yeang Kheng do not hold any interest in the securities of the Company
and its subsidiaries. Details of the securities holding of Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan is disclosed
under “Statement of Directors’ interest in the Company and its related corporations as at 30 April
2014” section set out in this Annual Report.

2.

Details of Attendance of Directors at Board Meetings
There were five (5) Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 December 2013. Details of
attendance of Directors at the said Board meetings are as follows:-

Name of Directors

No. of Meetings Attended

Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong

5/5

Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan

5/5

Y. Bhg. Dato’ Eu Hong Chew

5/5

Mr. Liang Yew Ming

5/5

Madam Ong Poh Ling

5/5

Madam Goh Yeang Kheng
(appointed on 1 July 2013)

3/3

I-BERHAD
Annual Report 2013

136

CDS ACCOUNT NO.

I-Berhad

NO. OF SHARES HELD

(7029-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

FORM OF PROXY
I/We
I.C.No./Passport No./Company No.

of

being a member of I-BERHAD hereby appoint
I.C.No./Passport No./Company No.

of

or failing him
I.C.No./Passport No./Company No.

of

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the 47th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at i-Gallery, Persiaran
Multimedia, i-City, 40000 Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan on Monday, 30 June 2014 at 10.00 a.m. or at any adjourment thereof in the
manner indiated below :

No.

For

Resolutions

1.

Approval of final single tier dividend of 6% in respect of the year ended
31 December 2013.

2.

Approval of Directors’ fees of RM175,000 for the year ended 31 December 2013.

3.

Re-election of Y. Bhg. Dato’ Eu Hong Chew pursuant to Article 109 of the
Company’s Articles of Assiociation.

4.

Re-election of Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan pursuant to Article 109 of the
Company’s Articles of Association.

5.

Re-election of Madam Goh Yeang Kheng pursuant to Article 96 of the
Company’s Articles of Association.

6.

Re-appointment of Messrs. BDO as Auditors of the Company, and to authorise
the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

7.

Authority for the Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the
Companies Act, 1965.

Against

Please indicate with a cross (“X”) in the spaces provided how you wish your vote to be cast. In the absence of specific directions, your proxy
may vote or abstain from voting at his discretion.
Where a member appoints 2 proxies, please specify the proportions of the member’s holdings to be represented by each proxy:-

Dated this

day of

Signature/Common Seal of Shareholder

2014

For appoint of two proxies, percentage of shareholdings to be represented
by the proxies :
No of shares Percentage
Proxy 1

%

Proxy 2

%
100%

Notes:
1.

In respect of deposited securities, only Members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 23 June 2014 [General Meeting Record
of Depositors] shall be entitled to attend and vote at this 47th AGM.

2.

A member entitled to attend, speak and vote at the general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote in his stead. A proxy
need not be a member of the Company and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not apply to the Company.

3.

Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial
owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may
appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

4.

Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his holdings to be represented
by each proxy.

5.

The Form of Proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his attorney duly authorised in writing or if such appointer is a
corporation, under its common seal or the hand of its attorney.

6.

All proxy forms duly executed should be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at D-1-4, Jalan Multimedia 7/AJ, CityPark, i-City, 40000
Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan not less than 48 hours before the time set for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Fold Here

STAMP

THE COMPANY SECRETARY

I-BERHAD
D-1-4 JALAN MULTIMEDIA 7/AJ
CITYPARK, I-CITY
40000 SHAH ALAM
SELANGOR DARUL EHSAN

Fold Here

